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To the Members of the Board of Education
And the Citizens of Wicomico County:

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the Board of Education of Wicomico
County (the Board) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010 is submitted herewith pursuant to the
Annotated Code of the State of Maryland, section 5-109. The CAFR is a thorough and detailed
presentation of the Board’s financial condition, activities and balances for the fiscal year. The
CAFR includes three sections. The first section is the introductory section and includes this
transmittal letter and other organizational information. The second part is the financial section
which includes Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the basic financial statements and
supplementary information. The third part is the statistical section which includes various
selected financial, demographic and operating information.

The responsibility for both the accuracy of the data and the completeness of the CAFR rests
with the management of the Board. The Board’s comprehensive framework of internal controls
provides assurance of the accuracy of the information included in the CAFR. Because the cost
of internal controls should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable
rather than absolute assurance that the financial statements are free of any material
misstatements. This report was prepared by the Division of Business Support Services and to
the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed data is complete and accurate in all material
respects and is reported in a manner to present fairly the financial position and results of
operations of the Board.

The financial statements of the Board have been audited by TGM Group LLC, certified public
accountants, and they have issued an unqualified “clean” opinion on the Board’s financial
statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. The auditor’s opinion is presented as the
first component of the financial section of the CAFR.

The Board in compliance with OMB Circular A-133 has issued a separate Compliance Report.
The report includes the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards as well as the auditor’s
report on internal control over financial reporting and the report on the Board’s compliance with
requirements applicable to major Federal Awards.

it is the policy of the Wicomico County Board of Education to provide equal educational and employment
opportunities regardless of age, gender, race, color, religion, national origin, disability or sexual crientation.




Reporting Entity Profile

The Wicomico County school system was established in 1867 and is a corporate body politic.
Its mission is to provide all students an educational foundation and a set of skills which will
enable them to become responsible and productive citizens in our society. The governing body
of the school system is the Board of Education which is composed of seven (7) members
appointed by the governor for staggered five (5) year terms. The Board of Education
determines educational policy and employs a superintendent of schools for a four-year term to
administer the school system.

During the 2009-2010 school year, the school system served 14,667 students (an increase of 34
students from the prior year) in seventeen (17) elementary schools, seven (7) secondary schools,
one career-technology high school, one evening high school, an alternative learning program, an
early learning program, and an adult learning program. Enrollment for next school year is
projected to increase modestly. The ratio of professional staff (including administrators and
faculty) to students for the 2009-2010 school year was approximately one staff member to 10
students. Student demographics for the 2009-2010 school year included: 49% students that
qualified for free/reduced meals; 11.8% students with disabilities; and 2.3% students that were
English Language Learners. In June 2010, the school system graduated 973 students.

In accordance with state law the Board of Education developed in 2002 a Comprehensive Master
Plan. The 2009-2010 school year is the seventh year of implementation of that plan. The plan
is organized around the school system’s three (3) strategic priorities of High Student
Achievement, Safe Learning Environment, and Effective and Efficient Operations. Progress is
reported through annual updates of the Comprehensive Master Plan with the Maryland State
Department of Education (MSDE). Such updates are available on the MSDE website.

Assessment of the School System’s Economic Condition

Maryland has been impacted by the same factors that have brought on the nation’s economic
downturn. As with the national forecast, state and local governments are bracing for a
continued weak economy, and revenue projections for future budgets have continued to be
downgraded.

During fiscal year 2010, our county government and school Board cooperated to ensure that our
county met the Maintenance of Effort (MOE) requirement for state aid purposes which enabled
our school system to receive approximately $4 million in additional state aid over fiscal year
2009. However, despite our county’s filing for an MOE waiver for fiscal year 2011 and
receiving state approval, the additional state aid for 2011 is flat. State aid has been tempered by
an apparent anomaly in Wicomico’s free and reduced price meal population which has a direct
negative impact on our state aid.

The weak economy continues to have a negative impact on income tax revenues for our county
and coupled with a two (2) percent revenue cap {a cap on our county’s ability to raise revenue
from real estate and personal property taxes} the county has no alternative but to cut funding for
education. Therefore, fiscal year 2011 local aid for education has been reduced by 15% ($7.6

2




million). This dramatic decrease in aid for education has resulted in the Board of Education
implementing staffing reductions and budget cuts in almost all areas of its fiscal year 2011
operating budget. Overall, the fiscal year 2011 operating budget has been reduced by $8.4
million.

Planning for fiscal year 2012 and beyond has been shaped by the following negative economic
factors:
* Forecast of a weak recovery to extend well into 2011
Continued unemployment rate for our county averaging 9%
Flat housing start numbers
Continued decrease in local property assessments
Wicomico County’s 2% revenue cap and our County’s failure to identify other sources of
revenue
¢ State of Maryland’s forecast of a budget shortfall of $1.6 billion

Consequently, we must continue to downgrade our revenue forecasts for fiscal year 2012 and
beyond, and because our Board has no legal authority to raise revenues of any significant
amount, the Board will most likely be faced with additional cuts to our expenditures budget.

Despite these many negative factors, there remains the one positive action that will favorably
impact fiscal year 2012; the cooperation the Board received from our County government to
adjust the base level of our School Construction Savings Fund (SCSF) to facilitate a budget
saving measure implemented by our Superintendent in the fall of 2009. For fiscal year 2010
only, the County approved raising the base level of the SCSF to $4 million which has enabled
the Board to carryover $4 million in unassigned fund balance to fiscal year 2012. This
significant source of funds for fiscal year 2012 will assist greatly in helping the Board balance
our 2012 operating budget.

Federal funding increased dramatically in fiscal year 2010 and will continue to grow in fiscal
years 2011 and 2012. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA), which was
passed in early 2009, has provided the Board with significant amounts of aid for Title I and
Special Education initiatives as well as one-time capital expenditures. These funds for the most
part will be obligated in fiscal years 2010 and 2011. Because these funds are what has been
referred to as “cliff funding”, the Board has used the majority of the funds for one-time
expenditures or for contractual funded positions. This will ensure the Board avoids the pitfalls
of the coming cliff (end of funding). The recent passage of the Race to the Top (RTTT )
initiative and the Educations Job Fund (EJF) will result in significant additional federal aid
which must be targeted to areas specified in the law.

The RTTT funds ($3.8 million over a four year period) must be used to:

Support the transition to enhanced standards and high-quality assessments

Turn around the lowest performing schools

Provide effective support to teacher and principals

Assist in developing data systems that will effectively use data to improve instruction




The Board must submit a work plan for the use of RTTT funds to the State Department of
Education by November 3, 2010.

The EJF funds ($825,645) must be used for:

¢ Compensation and benefits and other expenses, such as support services, necessary to:
o retain existing employees
o to recall or rehire former employees
o to hire new employees in order to provide early childhood, elementary or
secondary education and related services

Major School System Initiatives

Securing funding to continue the Board’s Capital Improvements Plan (CIP) remains a priority
for the Board. With the recent opening of the new James M Bennett High School, a significant
hurdle in our County’s bonding for capital projects has been overcome. However, much
remains to be done. Until such time as the Bennett Middle School project is complete, the
James M Bennett project cannot be finished, nor can the appropriate HVAC systems be
provided for the four remaining schools beyond Bennett Middle that currently lack adequate air
quality systems. Such inequities in the learning environments for our students across our county
must be overcome and our Board will continue to explore all avenues of funding and alternative
financing arrangements to address these important projects. Therefore, obtaining the necessary
funds both from the state and our local government to complete the Bennett Middle School
project will become a major focus of the school system.
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TGM_ROP

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Education of Wicomico County
Salisbury, Maryland

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of
The Board of Education of Wicomico County, a component unit of Wicomico County,
Maryland, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2010, which collectively comprise the
Board’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial
statements are the responsibility of The Board of Education of Wicomico County’s
management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of The Board of
Education of Wicomico County as of June 30, 2010, and the respective changes in financial
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis on pages 10 through 22, schedules of funding progress
and employer contributions on pages 57 through 58, and budgetary comparison information
on pages 59 through 63 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of

955 Mti. Hermon Road | Salisbury, MD 21804 | 410-742-1328 | 1-888-546-1574 | FAX 4107426855
www.tgmgroupllc.com




financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise The Board of Education of Wicomico County’s financial statements as a
whole. The introductory section, additional supplementary information, and statistical section
as listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not
a required part of the financial statements. The additional supplementary information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relate directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to
the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a
whole. The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

JA% yééwﬁuoté(’c

Salisbury, Maryland
September 29, 2010




THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

This section of the Board of Education of Wicomico County’s (the Board) comprehensive
annual financial report (CAFR) presents our discussion and analysis of the Board’s financial
performance during the fiscal year that ended on June 30, 2010. Please read it in
conjunction with the Letter of Transmittal at the front of this report and the Board’s financial
statements, which follows this section.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

¢ The Board’s total net assets of $227,011,549, represents an increase of $29.3 million
(14.8%) over the prior year. This increase is attributable to the increase in
Investment in Capital Assets as a result of the ongoing capital improvements at James
M. Bennett High School.

® General Fund fund balance equals $16,889,234, an increase of 4.9 million over the
prior year. This is attributable to the operating budget savings plan initiated by the
Superintendent to accumulate $4.0 million in our end of year “unassigned” fund
balance for the specific purpose of carrying these funds to the fiscal year 2012
operating budget as part of the long term strategic plan to help over come the
anticipated shortfalls brought about by the stagnant economy.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial section of the annual report consists of four parts - Independent Auditors’
Report (opinion), required supplementary information which includes the management’s
discussion and analysis (this section), the basic financial statements, and supplemental
information.

Basic Financial Statements
The basic financial statements consist of: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund
financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements.

Government-wide financial statements

The government-wide statements report information about the Board as a whole using
accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies. There are two
government-wide statements:

1) Statement of net assets - includes all of the Board’s assets and liabilities
and reflects the difference (net assets) between the assets and liabilities

which is one way to measure the financial health of an entity.

2) Statement of activities which reflects the current year’s revenues and
expenses regardless of when cash is received or paid.

10




THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

» Over time, increases or decreases in the Board’s net assets are an
indicator of whether its financial position is improving or deteriorating,
respectively.

» To assess the overall health of the Board you need to consider
additional non-financial factors such as changes in the condition of
school buildings and other facilities.

In the government-wide financial statements the Board’s activities are divided into two
categories:

» Governmental activities - Most of the Board’s basic services are included
here, such as regular and special education, transportation, administration,
food services, and community education. Local county and state aid
finance the majority of these activities.

» Business-type activities - The Board accounts for all of the Food Service
activities here.

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the District’s
funds - focusing on its most significant or “major” funds - not the District as a whole.
Funds are accounting devices the District uses to keep track of specific sources of
funding and spending on particular programs. Some funds are required by State law,
while the Board establishes other funds to control and manage money for particular
purposes or to show that it is properly using certain revenues (e.g., federal grants).
The District has three kinds of funds:

» Governmental funds - Most of the district’s basic services are included in
governmental funds, which generally focus on (1) cash and other financial
assets that can readily be converted to cash flow in and out, and (2) the
balances left at year-end that are available for spending. Consequently, the
governmental funds statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps to
determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be
spent in the near future to finance the Board’s programs. Because this
information does not encompass the additional long-term focus of the
government-wide statements, we have provided additional information to
explain the relationship (or differences) between them.

11




THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

» Proprietary funds - The Food Service operation is the only fund accounted for
as a proprietary fund. Proprietary funds are reported the same way as
business-type activities in the government-wide statements.

» Fiduciary funds - The District is the trustee, or agent, for assets that belong to
others, such as the Employees Retirement Plan and the 401(a) Employer
Matching Plan. The School Activities Fund is also accounted for as a
fiduciary fund. The District is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported
in these funds are used only for their intended purposes and by those to whom
the assets belong. We exclude these activities from the government-wide
financial statements because the District cannot use these assets to finance its
operations.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE BOARD AS A WHOLE

Net assets — the Board’s combined net assets were $227,011,549 on June 30, 2010. This is
an increase of 14.8% over the prior year. (see Table 1.)

Table 1
THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
(in millions of dollars)
Total
Governmental Business-Type Board of Ed Percentage
Activities Activities Total Change
2010-
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2009
Current and other assets $46.1  $46.4 $0.9 $0.7 $47.0 $47.2 -0.4%
Capital Assets $208.7 $184.2 $0.5 $0.3 $209.2 3$184.5 13.4%
TOTAL ASSETS $254.8 $230.6 $1.3 $1.0 $256.1 $231.6 10.6%
Current Liabilities $24.7  $29.6 $0.2 $0.1 $249  $29.7 -16.2%
Long-Term Liabilities $4.1 $4.1 $0.1 $0.0 $4.2 $4.1 1.6%
TOTAL
LIABILITIES $28.9  $33.8 $0.3 $0.1 $29.1 $33.9 -14.0%
Net Assets
Invested in Capital Assets,

Net of Related Debt $206.1 $181.2 $0.5 $0.3 $206.6 $181.4 13.8%
Restricted $12.6 $12.9 $0.0 $0.0 $12.6 $12.9 -2.0%
Unrestricted $7.2 $2.8 $0.6 $0.7 $7.8 $3.4 128.5%
TOTAL NET ASSETS 225, $196.8 $1.1 $0.9 $227.0 $197.8 14.8%

12




THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

Changes in net assets - the District’s total revenues were $229.3 million for the year ended
June 30, 2010 (See Table 2). The county appropriation and state formula aid accounted for
approximately 68.3% of total revenue for the year. Another 31.6% came from program
revenues and the remainder from other revenue sources such as investment earnings which
were down significantly because of current market conditions.

The total cost of all programs and services was $200 million. The District’s expenses are
predominantly related to providing direct educational services to students (78.4 percent). The
purely administrative activities of the District accounted for approximately 3.1% of total
expenses. Total revenues exceeded expenses, thereby increasing net assets $29.3 million
over last year.

Table 2
THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY
CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
(in millions of dollars)

Total
Governmental Business-Type Board of Ed Percentage
Activities Activities Total Change
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010-2009
Program revenues
Charges for services $2.0 $2.3 $1.7 $1.8 $3.7 $4.2 -9.9%
Federal and state grants $34.4  $29.7 $4.4 $4.1 $38.7  $33.8 14.6%
Capital Coutributions $30.0 $42.0 $0.0 $0.0 $30.0 $42.0 -28.6%
General revenues
County Appropriation $50.8  $50.2 $0.0 $0.0 $50.8  $50.2 1.1%
State formula aid $105.8 $101.7 $0.0 $0.0 $105.8 $101.7 4.0%
Other $0.2 $0.4 $0.0 $0.0 $0.2 $0.4 -39.3%
TOTAL REVENUE $223.2  $226.3 $6.1 $5.9 $229.3 $232.2 -1.3%
Expenses:
Instruction & Special Ed $156.8 $148.9 $0.0 $0.0 $156.8 $148.9 5.3%
Administration $6.1 $5.9 $0.0 $0.0 $6.1 $5.9 4.0%
Support Services $30.3  $29.8 $6.8 $6.6 $37.0 $36.4 1.9%
TOTAL EXPENSES $193.2 $184.6 $6.8 $6.6 $200.0 $191.2 4.6%
Transfers: -$0.9  -$0.8 $0.9  $0.8 $0.0  $0.0  00%
Incr. (decr.) in net assets $29.1  $41.0 0.1 $0.1 293  $41.0 28.7%
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

Governmental Activities:

The increase in net assets for governmental activities was $29.1 million in FY 2010.
Revenues decreased by $3.1 million in FY 2010. This was attributable to the decrease of
$12 million in capital contributions from the state and the county for the James M Bennett
project since the project is entering its final phase and revenue needs for the project will
continue to decrease. However, the Board did experience a growth in state aid for education
of approximately $4.1 million as provided by the Bridge to Excellence in Education
formulas. These formulas are driven by a county’s enrollment and wealth. Wicomico’s
enrollment increased in comparison to other counties and was the major factor contributing to
our significant growth in state aid during FY 2010. It is important to note that the securing
of the additional state aid was because our county met the state required Maintenance of
Effort (MOE). This was made possible by our Board’s transfer of $2 million from our
School Construction Savings Plan to the County’s Operating Budget which enabled the county
to provide the level of funding to the Board to meet MOE ($50.8 million).

See Chart 1.a and 1.b below for a breakdown of the District’s revenues as a percentage of
total revenue for FY 2010 and 2009. As you can clearly see, Capital Contributions
decreased significantly as a percent of total revenue over last year. This is attributable to the
James M. Bennett School renovation project entering the final stage of construction.
Although the Board opened the James M. Bennett School to students in August 2010, the
final phase of the total project cannot be completed until the Bennett Middle Complex is
relocated to its new location in Fruitland, MD.

REVENUE: 2010 REVENUE: 2009
Charges for services 2,039,512 0.91% Charges for services 2,321,403 1.03%
Federal and state grants 34,350,575 15.39% Federal and state grants 29,676,409 13.12%
Capital Contributions 29,996,468 13.44% Capital Contributions 41,990,294 18.56%
County Appropriation 50,781,711 22.75% County Appropriation 50,204,655 22.19%
State formula aid 105,808,156 47.40% State formula aid 101,713,302 44.95%
Other 224,234 0.10% Other 369,529 0.16%
$223,200,636 100.00% $226.275,592 100.00%
Chart1.2 Chart1.b
WCBOEREVENUES WCBOE REVENUES
FY 2010 FY 2009
Charges for a’:%d;z‘e deetra;l
services grarils Charges fd?‘rg}rasnta:]se
Other  0.9% 15.4% Other NS 13.1%

0 1%

Capital
State Contributio State Capital
formula aid ns formula aid Cortribitin
47 4% 13.4% 45.0% .
18.6%
County
Apprc())rs nal Courlly
22 8% Appropriati

14




THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

Charts 2.a and 2.b disclose the breakdown of expenses for FY 2010 and 2009 for
Governmental Activities. The Charts and expense disclosures reflect the significant increase
in the expenditure of funds for Instruction and Special Education, while Administration other

Support Services remained relatively flat.

EXPENSES: 2010 EXPENSES: 2009
Instruction & Special Ed $156,849,889 Instruction & Special Ed $148,931,939
Admin. $6,116,697 $5,880,904
Support Services $30.257,359 Support Services $29,752,042
$193,223,945 $184.564.885
Chart2.a Chart2.b
WCBOEEXPENSES WCBOE EXPENSES
FY 2010 FY 2009
Support Support
Services Services
15.7% 16.1%
Admin. Admin.

3.2%

32%

Instruction Inst'uot! on
& Special & Special
Ed Ed
81.2% 80.7%

Business-type Activities:

The District’s only business-type activity, the food service operation, had an increase in net
assets of $137,216 in FY 2010 {Refer to Table 1 and 2 for details}. Commencing in FY
2008, the Board’s General Operating Budget provided support to the food service operation
in the form of an interfund transfer of $750,000. This transfer remained a part of the FY
2010 budget and represents the Board’s commitment to cover the employer’s share of Health
Care costs for eligible Food Service employees which is approximately equal to $638,000.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE DISTRICT’S FUNDS

The financial performance of the District as a whole is reflected in its governmental funds as
well. As the District completed the year, its governmental funds reported a combined fund
balance of $21.5 million, an increase of $4.3 million over last year’s ending fund balance.
Revenues for the District’s governmental funds were $206.5 million, an increase of only
$707,324 over the prior year. Total expenditures were $217.9 million for the year, a
decrease of $7.0 million.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

General Fund

The General Fund includes the primary operations of the District in providing educational
services to students from pre-kindergarten through grade 12, including pupil transportation
and the maintenance and operation of all school facilities. See Table 3 for a summary of

General Fund revenues and expenditures.

Table 3
GENERAL FUND REVENUES
$ %
FY 2010 FY 2009 Incr (Decr) Incr (Decr)
REVENUES
Wicomico County Appropriations $ 50,781,711 $ 50,204,655 $ 577,056 1.1%
Other Local Revenue 2,026,106 2,492,796 (466,690) -18.7%
State of Maryland 112,228,749 108,206,374 4,022,375 3.7%
State of Maryland Share of
Retirement 12,316,880 10,390,453 1,926,427 18.5%
Other 647,725 530,557 117,168 22.1%
TOTAL REVENUES $178,001,171 $171,824,835 § 6,176,336 3.6%
GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES
$ %
FY 2010 FY 2009 Incr (Decr) Incr (Decr)
EXPENDITURES
Administration $ 3,721,891 $ 3,856,073 $ (134,182) -3.5%
School Management and Support 11,768,966 11,555,630 213,336 1.8%
Instructional Salaries 66,405,576 65,773,058 632,518 1.0%
Textbooks and Instructional Supplies 3,293,589 3,405,287 (111,698) -3.3%
Other Instruction Costs 945,300 1,117,876 (172,576) -15.4%
Special Education 14,185,682 13,946,189 239,493 1.7%
Student Personnel Services 2,190,749 2,020,300 170,449 8.4%
Health Services 1,447,269 1,380,474 66,795 4.8%
Student Transportation 7,884,571 7,730,162 154,409 2.0%
Operation of Plant and Equipment 10,647,752 10,821,202 (173,450) -1.6%
Maintenance of Plant 2,682,147 2,839,963 (157,816) -5.6%
Fixed Charges 27,553,287 27,180,062 373,225 1.4%
Community Services 188,774 243,666 (54,892) -22.5%
Capital Outlay 6,585,502 8,107,359 (1,521,857) -18.8%
State of Maryland Share of
Retirement 12,316,880 10,390,453 1,926,427 18.5%
TOTAL
EXPENDITURES 171,817,935 170,367,754 1,450,181 0.9%

16




THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

(USES)
Increase in Rate Stabilization Reserve 303,611 1,856,307 (1,552,696) -83.6%
Capital Lease Proceeds 1,554,556 1,566,000 (11,444) 0.7%
Interfund Transfers - Print Shop (563,537) (356,096) (207,441) 58.3%
Interfund Transfers - School Constr Fund (1,807,223) (1,707,290) (99,933) 5.9%
Interfund Transfers - Other (750,000) (750,000) - 0.0%

(1,262,593) 608,921 (1,871,514 -307.3%

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES AND OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES (USES) OVER

EXPENDITURES $ 4920643 $  2.066,002 2,854,641 138.2%

Revenues increased by $6.2 million, as a result of State aid for education and the increase in
the State of Maryland Share of Retirement. It is important to note the County Council
funded maintenance of effort for FY 2010, as a direct result of the cooperation from the
Board in the form of a transfer of funds directly from our School Construction Savings Fund,
in the amount of $2.0 million, to the County General Fund. This concerted effort enabled
the Board to receive the additional state aid.

The large influx of state aid was appropriated in accordance with our Comprehensive Master
Plan (CMP). However, General Fund expenditures increased by only $1.5 million, or .9 %
over FY2009 as a direct result of the Board’s Operating Budget Savings measures
implemented by the Superintendent in an effort to save approximately $4 million in year end
fund balance to carryover to FY 2012 to help mitigate declining revenue projections for
future years.

Special Revenue Fund (Restricted Grant Funds)

These Funds are used to account for grants from Federal, State and Local sources. Grants
provide a major source of revenue for specific educational programs not funded by the
General Fund. Programs include initiatives for Special Education students and disadvantaged
students. Table 4 below reflects a significant increase in grant funds over the prior year.
Federal funding represented the lion share of the increase and is attributable to the American
Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, which has provided Wicomico with significant
amounts of supplemental aid for Title I, Special Education and one-time Capital Projects.

17




THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

Table 4
RESTRICTED GRANT REVENUE
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Increase %
FY 2010 FY 2009 (Decrease) Incr. (Decr.)
REVENUES
Federal Through State $ 13,556,335 $ 11,028,683 $ 2,527,652 22.92%
State of
Maryland 1,089,480 1,162,892 (73,412) -6.31%
Other 557,202 462,785 94,417 20.40%
TOTAL
REVENUES $ 15,203,017 $ 12,654,360 $ 2,548,657 20.14%

Capital Projects Fund

The Board has no legal authority to borrow funds. All funds for school construction come
from either the transfer of bond proceeds from our County selling Capital Bonds or from
State Aid through the Maryland Public School Construction Program (PSCP). During FY
2010, the Board received county bond proceeds of $16.7 million and PSCP aid of $13.2
million. These funds were used predominantly for the James M. Bennett High School
renovation project. The Capital Projects (School Construction) Fund expenditures exceeded
revenue by only $564,517.

Fiduciary Fund
The following funds are accounted for as Fiduciary Funds:

) Pension Trust Funds:
¢ Retirement Plan for Employees of the Board of Education of Wicomico County
covers all Board employees not eligible for the State Teachers Retirement or Pension
Systems. Total assets as of June 30, 2010 were approximately $14.9 million (see
footnote 8 for more detail information).

® 401(a) Matching Plan is a self-directed defined contribution plan. All employees,
18 years and older, are eligible and Board contributions are based upon employees’

contributions to the Board’s 403(b) Tax Sheltered Annuity Program. Total assets as
of June 30, 2010 were $2.6 million (see footnote 8 for more detail information).

® Retiree Health Insurance Plan Trust (OPEB) was established by the Board in June
2006 in order to fund the health care costs of retirees. Total assets as of June 30,

2010 were approximately $5.3 million (see footnote 6 for more detail information).

2) Private Purpose Trust Funds: Funds received for specific purposes such as student
scholarships and awards total $53,344 as of June 30, 2010.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

(3)  Agency Funds: During FY 2010 the Board’s 24 schools collected revenues and
incurred expenditures for various student activities (see Table 5). The Board contracts
with an independent Certified Public Accountant to perform an audit of these agency
funds on an annual basis. Please refer to the separately issued audited financial
statements for the School Activities Fund for specific details.

Table 5
SCHOOL ACTIVITIES FUND
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Increase %
FY 2010 FY 2009 (Decrease) Incr. (Decr.)

Revenues $ 2,501,709 $ 2,516,718 § (15,009) -0.60%
Expenditures 2,540,618 2,539,403 1,215 0.05%

Beginning Fund Balance 486,632 509,317 (22,685) -4.45%

Ending Fund Balance $ 447,723 $ 486,632 $ (38909 -8.00%

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Over the course of the year, the Board revised the annual operating budget very few times.
We attribute the dramatic reduction in the number and dollar amount of transfers needed to
the FY 2010 budget process. Budget managers were encouraged to submit a “zero-based”
budget as part of their budget submission for FY 2010. This approach and a concerted effort
on the part of all budget managers to “realign” budgets and “operate within our means”
resulted in a reduced number of budget transfer requests. The few budget amendments, for
which County Council approval was received included:

Appropriation of Designated Unreserved Fund Balance:

$500,000 - to pay DHMH/MSDE associated with the FY 2000 OIG audit of our
Medical Assistance billing. The voluntary payment “under protest” represented the
balance owed by the Board associated with the audit findings as well as offsetting the
amounts that had already been withheld by the state.

Budget Transfers/Realignments:

$76,773 - transferred from Other Instructional Costs to Instructional Salaries and
Wages and Textbooks and Instructional Supplies to continue the WISE after school &
summer program and to acquire CTE and Family and Consumer Science materials of
instruction

$23,215 - transferred from various categories to provide funds to implement the FY
2010 School Improvement Plans to address MSA results
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

> $77,587 - transferred from various categories to provide funds for a Nursing
Assistant position to accommodate a student with special needs transferred into our
county and for the acquisition of technology equipment associated with the STEM
Academy and for music teachers

» $26,460 - transferred Other Instructional Costs, Professional Meetings & Conferences
to Student Personnel to provide funding for the School Crossing Guard program. The
Board contracted with the Sheriff’s office in January 2010 to provide this service after
the Sheriff’s office cut the program from their budget.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

By the end of FY 2010, the District has invested approximately $283.5 million in a broad
range of capital assets, including land, school buildings, athletic facilities, furniture and
equipment. (More detailed information about capital assets can be found in Note 4 to the
financial statements.) Total depreciation expense for the year was $7.2 million.

Construction - Next Five Years

Annually, the Board of Education prepares and submits to the State Inter-Agency Committee
for School Construction and to the Wicomico County Executive a 5-Year Capital
Improvement Program (CIP). The Board’s FY 2011 CIP requested $19 million from the
county and $14.6 million from the state. Our requests included $17 million from the county
for Bennett Middle and smaller amounts for various systemic renovation projects. We
requested $9.98 million from the state for the James M Bennett High School project and $4.4
million for the Northwestern Elementary HVAC renovation project.

We have recently received state approval of $9.98 million which represents the state’s final
installment for the James M Bennett High School replacement project. The High School
opened a year ahead of schedule, but the final phase of the project cannot be completed until
the Bennett Middle School project is complete. The Northwestern project request was not
approved.

Our county executive and county council continue to voice concern about their ability to fund
any capital project requests due to the ongoing economic downturn. In fact, of the $19
million requested, the county executive only recommended $2 million for funding associated
with the Bennett Middle School relocation and construction project (est. total cost $70
million). Continued economic concerns will delay the Bennett Middle project, which in turn
will delay the completion of the James M Bennett project and force our continued deferment
of millions of dollars of much needed projects.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

During FY 2011, we are attempting to piece together various sources of funds including
federal stimulus funds (ARRA), state aging school funds and Board School Construction
Savings Funds in a hope to commence the Northwestern Elementary School HVAC project.
Over the remaining four (4) years, FY 2012 - FY 2015, the Board’s FY 2011 Capital
Improvement Plan (CIP) requests $98.8 million from the state and $87.5 million from the
county to complete or commence renovation of the following major projects in the order
listed below:

Bennett Middle School (relocation and then construction of new facility on new site)
Parkside mechanical plant renovation

West Salisbury Elementary renovation

Mardela Middle/High addition

Wicomico Middle renovations

Glen Avenue Elementary renovation

Add HVAC systems to schools without air conditioning (project to be completed by
FY 2016)

Long-term Liabilities
At year-end, the District had $4.1 million for amounts due or payable after one year. This
amount consisted of the following:

$2,987,186 of accrued compensated absences which is an obligation resulting
primarily from accrued annual leave which is due and payable to employees upon
termination.

$1,153,788 payable on capital leases (see footnote 9 for more details).

FACTORS BEARING ON THE DISTRICT’S FUTURE

(D

@

The Board for the first time is issuing a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
(CAFR). This report includes other statistical information not required in the basic
financial statements the Board has issued in the past. The issuance of a CAFR is one
of the Superintendent’s initiatives to make the Board’s financial information more
comprehensive and informative to the community.

Current and future revenue projections for the state and county government remain
flat. We have been notified by the County Executive’s office to expect yet another
funding reduction. Recent reports from county staff indicate the Board’s reduction for
FY 2012 could be as much as $2.5 million. Word from our state government is
sparse and the pressure to push down retirement costs to the local Boards of
Education to help balance the state’s budget will surely continue. Fortunately, the
Board received approval from our County Council to carryover a savings of $4
million from our FY 2010 Operating Budget to assist us with the development of our
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATON OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2010

FY 2012 Operating Budget. The savings plan the Superintendent instituted a year ago
will help us weather the economic storm through FY 2012.

Effective July 1, 2007, the WCBOE established an Early Notification Plan (ENP).
The primary purpose for the plan was to retain teachers and staff through their normal
retirement date by providing a longevity step equal to 10% of the salary per the
appropriate negotiated salary scale for up to three (3) years. The Board elected not to
offer the ENP to any further staff members after the FY 2009 sign up. At this point
the Board believes it has accomplished its goals, but could consider such a plan in the
future. The ENP salary turnover (savings) for FY 2012 is projected to approximate
$400,000 and will again assist the Board with the FY 2012 Operating Budget
development.

Effective June 5, 2007, the Wicomico County Council enacted Resolution No. 88-
2007. This resolution approved the establishment of the Board’s School Construction
Savings Plan. The plan established a base level undesignated fund balance of
$300,000. Any amount exceeding this base level, after completion of the Board’s
annual audit will be transferred to the Board’s School Construction Savings Fund as a
means to accumulate funds. As noted in factor (2) above, for FY 2010 the base level
was raised to $4 million to accommodate the Superintendent’s Operating Budget
savings plan to help the Board with their FY 2012 Operating Budget. As of June 30,
2010 a balance of $3.9 million is in the fund. It is the Board’s plan to use a portion
of these funds to support the Northwestern HVAC renovation project.

The Board is an “early implementer” of Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) statement number 54. This statement was issued by the GASB in February
2009 to address the reporting concerns associated with fund balance. This important
new standard has left unchanged the total amount reported as fund balance, but has
substantially altered the categories and terminology used to describe its components.
The new categories and terminology reflect an innovative approach that focuses not on
financial resources available for appropriation, but on the extent to which the
government is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts
in the fund can be spent.

CONTACTING THE DISTRICT’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and creditors
with a general overview of the District’s finances and to demonstrate the District’s
accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need
additional financial information, contact the Finance office, Wicomico County Board of
Education, 101 Long Ave., Salisbury, MD 21802-1538

22




THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
June 30, 2010

ASSETS
Cash
Investments - cash equivalents
Accounts receivable:
School districts and other
Accrued interest on investments
Due from other governmental agencies
Internal balances
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Capital assets:
Construction in progress
Land and buildings
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable:
Retainage
Vendors
Payroll deductions and withholdings
Due to fiduciary funds
Due to other governmental agencies
Accrued salaries
Unearned revenue
Short term portion of long term liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences
Capital lease payable
Long term liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences
Capital lease payable

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted for:
Rate stabilization reserve
Capital projects
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET ASSETS

Business-
Governmental Type

Activities Activities Total
$ 1,506,757 $ 1,345 § 1,508,102
34,230,937 - 34,230,937
805,756 - 805,756
6,971 - 6,971
8,718,124 318,467 9,036,591
(512,233) 512,233 -
- 19,955 19,955
1,352,300 - 1,352,300
69,633,213 - 69,633,213
185,159,602 - 185,159,602
26,611,302 2,107,522 28,718,824

(72,711,013) (1,614,397) (74,325,410)

208,693,104 493,125 209,186,229
254,801,716 1,345,125 256,146,841
3,171,876 - 3,171,876
4,998,927 99,427 5,098,354
10,132,529 - 10,132,529
575,245 - 575,245
308,688 19,956 328,644
1,508,476 28,252 1,536,728
2,176,104 17,425 2,193,529
380,568 - 380,568
1,473,268 33,317 1,506,585
2,987,186 - 2,987,186
1,153,788 70,260 1,224,048
28,866,655 268,637 29,135,292
206,066,048 493,125 206,559,173
8,072,947 - 8,072,947
4,547,767 - 4,547,767
7,248,299 583,363 7,831,662
$ 225,935,061 $ 1,076,488 $ 227,011,549

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2010

Program Revenues

Charges for Operating Capital
Services and Grants and Grants and
Expenses Sales Contributions Contributions
Governmental Activities
Current:
Administration $ 6,116,697 $ - $ 1,261,966 $ -
Instructional services 132,065,219 1,938,036 18,128,206 29,996,468
Special education 24,784,670 - 13,648,449 -
Student personnel services 2,773,204 - 169,790 -
Health services 1,967,103 - 150,005 -
Student transportation 8,304,572 - 273,704 -
Operation of plant and equipment 13,796,567 57,072 571,504 -
Maintenance of plant 3,214,936 - 143,650 -
Community services 200,977 44,404 3,301 -
Total Governmental Activities 193,223,945 2,039,512 34,350,575 29,996,468
Business-Type Activities
Food Services 6,775,915 1,701,204 4,356,223 -
Total Business-Type Activities 6,775,915 1,701,204 4,356,223 -
Totals $ 199,999.860 $ 3,740,716 $ 38,706,798 $ 29,996,468

General Revenues
Wicomico County appropriations
State of Maryland
Other revenue
Investment Earnings

Total General Revenues
Transfers
Change in Net Assets

Net Assets Beginning of Year

Net Assets End of Year

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Net (Expenses) Revenue
and changes in Net Assets

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
$ (4,854,731) $ - $ (4,854,731)
(82,002,509) - (82,002,509)
(11,136,221) - (11,136,221)
2,603,414) - (2,603,414)
(1,817,098) - (1,817,098)
(8,030,868) - (8,030,868)
(13,167,991) - (13,167,991)
(3,071,286) - (3,071,286)
(153,272) - (153,272)
(126,837,390) - (126,837,390)
- (718,488) (718,488)
- (718,488) (718,488)
(126,837,390) (718,488) (127,555,878)
50,781,711 - 50,781,711
105,808,156 - 105,808,156
203,870 - 203,870
20,364 - 20,364
156,814,101 - 156,814,101
(855,704) 855,704 -
29,121,007 137,216 29,258,223
196,814,054 939,272 197,753,326

$ 225,935,061 $ 1,076,488 $ 227,011,549
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2010

Total
GENERAL RESTRICTED CAPITAL Governmental
FUND GRANTS PROJECTS Funds
ASSETS
Cash $ 1,506,757 $ -5 - $ 1,506,757
Investments - cash equivalents 34,230,937 - - 34,230,937
Accounts receivable:
School districts and other 697,290 108,466 - 805,756
Accrued interest on investments 6,971 - - 6,971
Prepaid expenses - - 2,200 2,200
Due from other governmental agencies 56,673 1,745,061 6,916,390 8,718,124
Due from other funds - - 4,550,705 4,550,705
TOTAL ASSETS $ 36,498,628 $ 1,853,527 § 11,469,295 § 49,821,450
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Accounts payable:
Retainage $ - $ - $ 3,171,876 $ 3,171,876
Vendors 1,015,416 233,859 3,749,652 4,998,927
Payroll deductions and withholdings 10,132,529 - - 10,132,529
Due to other funds 5,459,696 178,487 - 5,638,183
Accrued salaries and other 1,313,207 195,269 - 1,508,476
Accrued compensated absences 380,568 - - 380,568
Deferred revenue 1,183,299 992,805 - 2,176,104
Due to other governmental agencies 124,679 184,009 - 308,688
TOTAL LIABILITIES 19,609,394 1,784,429 6,921,528 28,315,351
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
FUND BALANCES
Restricted for fund purposes - 69,098 4,547,767 4,616,865
Committed:
Healthcare rate stabilization reserve 2,429,000 - - 2,429,000
Assigned to:
Healthcare rate stabilization reserve 5,643,947 - - 5,643,947
Subsequent year expenditures 300,000 - - 300,000
Other purposes (encumbrances) 4,516,287 - - 4,516,287
Unassigned 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Total fund balances 16,889,234 69,098 4,547,767 21,506,099
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES $ 36,498,628 §$ 1,853,527 $ 11,469,295 $ 49,821,450

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement,
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2010
(continued)

Total Governmental Funds Balances

Amounts reported for governmental activities

in the statement of net assets are different because:

Pre-payment of post-retirement employment benefits

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not

financial resources and therefore are not reported in the

governmental fund financial statements

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current

period and therefore are not reported in the funds

Accrued compensated absences
Capital lease payable

Net Assets of Governmental Activities
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

REVENUES
Wicomico County appropriations
Other local revenue
State of Maryland

State of Maryland retirement and pension contribution

Federal through state
Other sources
TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
Administration
School management and support
Instructional salaries and wages
Textbooks and instructional supplies
Other instructional costs
Special education
Student personnel services
Health services
Student transportation
Operation of plant and equipment
Maintenance of plant
Fixed charges
Community services
Capital outlay
Debt service
Capital lease principal
Capital lease interest
State of Maryland share of retirement
and pension contribution
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Increase in rate stabilization reserve
Capital lease proceeds
Interfund transfers - restricted grants
Interfund transfers - capital projects
Interfund transfers - food services

Transfer of bond proceeds from Wicomico County
Transfer of savings plan funds to Wicomico County

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances, beginning

Fund balances, ending

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2010

Total
GENERAL RESTRICTED CAPITAL Governmental
FUND GRANTS PROJECTS Funds
$ 50,781,711 $ - 3 - $ 350,781,711
2,026,106 341,720 - 2,367,826
112,228,749 1,089,480 13,170,000 126,488,229
12,316,880 - - 12,316,880
- 13,556,335 - 13,556,335
647,725 215,482 112,770 975,977
178,001,171 15,203,017 13,282,770 206,486,958
3,721,891 1,067,165 - 4,789,056
11,768,966 31,146 - 11,800,112
66,405,576 4,726,810 - 71,132,386
3,293,589 1,028,517 - 4,322,106
945,300 1,663,802 - 2,609,102
14,185,683 4,135,657 - 18,321,340
2,190,749 1,854 - 2,192,603
1,447,269 1,725 - 1,448,994
7,884,571 225,158 - 8,109,729
10,647,751 1,880 - 10,649,631
2,682,147 - - 2,682,147
27,553,287 2,872,324 - 30,425,611
188,774 16 - 188,790
4,515,844 - 30,368,208 34,884,052
1,958,968 - - 1,958,968
110,690 - - 110,690
12,316,880 - - 12,316,880
171,817,935 15,756,054 30,368,208 217,942,197
6,183,236 (553,037) (17,085,438) (11,455,239)
303,611 - - 303,611
1,554,556 - - 1,554,556
(563,537) 563,537 - -
(1,807,223) - 1,807,223 -
(750,000) - - (750,000)
- - 16,713,698 16,713,698
- - (2,000,000) (2,000,000)
(1,262,593) 563,537 16,520,921 15,821,865
4,920,643 10,500 (564,517) 4,366,626
11,968,591 58,598 5,112,284 17,139,473
$ 16,889,234 $ 69,098 $ 4,547,767 $ 21,506,099

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement,

28




THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2010

(continued)
Net change in fund balances-total Governmental Funds $

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those

assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation
expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays

exceeded depreciation in the current period.

Fixed asset additions 31,741,908
Current year depreciation (7,173,133)
Total

Loss on disposal of assets

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities, do not
require the use of current financial resources and therefore
are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

Increase in accrued compensated absences
Increase in pre-funded post-retirement benefits

Capital lease proceeds provide current financial resources to
governmental funds but increase long-term liabilities in the statement
of net assets. Repayment of capital lease obligations is an expenditure
in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-

term liabilities in the statement of net assets. In the current year, the
net effect of capital lease borrowings and repayments was:

Change in net assets of Governmental Activities $
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4,366,626

24,568,775

(70,008)

(329,348)
180,550

404,412
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY
STATEMENT OF FUND NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
June 30, 2010

Business-Type

Activities
Food
Services
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,345
Due from other funds 512,233
Due from other governments 318,467
Inventories 19,955
Total current assets 852,000
Capital assets, net 493,125
TOTAL ASSETS 1,345,125
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 127,679
Due to other governmental agencies 19,956
Unearned revenue 17,425
Short term portion of capital lease payable 33,317
Total current liabilities 198,377
Long term portion of capital lease payable 70,260
TOTAL LIABILITIES 268,637
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets 493,125
Unrestricted 583,363
TOTAL NET ASSETS $ 1,076,488

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2010

OPERATING REVENUES
Food service sales

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Depreciation
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

OPERATING LOSS

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

State of Maryland:
Reimbursement of food costs

Federal through State:
Reimbursement of food costs
Donation of food commodities

Loss on disposal of capital assets
TOTAL NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Change in net assets before contributions and transfers

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS - Equipment
TRANSFERS IN

Change in net assets
Net assets beginning of year

Net assets end of year

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Business-Type
Activities

Food
Services

$ 1,701,204

2,247,159
71,007
3,361,822
1,019,217
74,602

6,773,807

(5,072,603)

201,889

3,918,641
235,693
(2,108)

4,354,115

(718,488)

105,704
750,000

137,216

939,272

$ 1,076,488




THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIONS:

Cash received from user charges $ 1,623,255
Cash payments to employees for services, fringe benefits (2,510,458)
Cash payments for health and other insurances (727,666)
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (3,104,852)
Cash payments for facility use and maintenance (71,007)
Net cash used in operating activities (4,790,728)
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Nonoperating grants received 4,120,530
Interfund transfers 750,000
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 4,870,530
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from capital lease 140,077
Principal payments on capital lease (36,500)
Purchase of equipment (183,379)
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (79,802)
Net increase in cash -
Cash and investments, beginning of year 1,345
Cash and investments, end of year $ 1,345
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Used In Operating Activities:
Operating Loss $ (5,072,603)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss
to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation 74,602
Commodities used 235,693
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Inventories 4,282
Receivables (77,949)
(Decrease) increase in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 38,223
Deferred revenue and due to other governments 7,024
Total adjustments 281,875
Net cash used in operating activities $ (4,790,728)
Noncash items:
Capital contributions of equipment $ 105,704
Donation of food commodities 235,693

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

ASSETS
Cash
Accounts receivable
Due from other funds
Trust investments

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Due to school

activity groups

Total liabilities

NET ASSETS
Held in Trust for:
Retirement and
other benefits
Scholarships, etc.

Total net assets

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
June 30, 2010

Pension AGENCY FUND
and Retiree Private School
Health Plan Purpose Activities
Trust Funds Trust Fund Fund Total
$ 2,006,158 $ 2,180 $ 39,255 $ 2,047,593
423,015 - 582 423,597
- 161,866 413,379 575,245
20,329,228 - - 20,329,228
22,758,401 164,046 453,216 23,375,663
- 1,500 5,493 6,993
- - 447,723 447,723
- 1,500 453,216 454,716
22,758,401 - - 22,758,401
- 162,546 - 162,546
$ 22,758,401 $ 162,546 $ - $ 22,920,947

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2010

Pension Private Purpose
and Retiree Trust Fund -
Health Plan Scholarship
Trust Funds Memorials Total
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Donations $ - % 53,344 $ 53,344
Employer contributions 2,646,195 - 2,646,195
Plan member contributions 357,791 - 357,791
Total contributions 3,003,986 53,344 3,057,330
Investment earnings:
Interest and dividends 613,753 346 614,099
Increase in fair value
of investments 1,645,447 - 1,645,447
Total investement earnings 2,259,200 346 2,259,546
Total additions 5,263,186 53,690 5,316,876
DEDUCTIONS
Scholarships, etc. - 62,463 62,463
Pension benefit payments 888,910 - 888,910
Administrative expenses 136,539 - 136,539
Total deductions 1,025,449 62,463 1,087,912
Change in net assets 4,237,737 (8,773) 4,228,964
Net assets beginning of year 18,520,664 171,319 18,691,983
Net assets end of year $ 22,758,401 $ 162,546 $ 22,920,947

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. Financial Reporting Entity

The Board of Education of Wicomico County (the “Board”) is empowered by Title 13A of the Code of
Maryland Regulations to fulfill the elementary and secondary educational needs of students in Wicomico
County, Maryland (the “County™).

The financial statements of the Board have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) as applied to local government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial principles.
Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989, generally are
followed in both the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to the extent that those
standards do not conflict with or contradict guidance of the GASB. Governments also have the option of
following subsequent private-sector guidance for their business-type activities and enterprise funds, subject to
this same limitation. The Board has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance. The most
significant of the Board’s accounting policies are described below.

B. Basis of Presentation

The Board is the basic level of government which has financial accountability and control over all activities
related to public school education in Wicomico County, Maryland. The Board receives funding from local,
State and Federal government sources and must comply with the requirements of these funding source entities.

The Board is a component unit of Wicomico County, Maryland and is included in the County’s reporting entity.
This conclusion has been reached based on the following criteria: 1) the County is responsible for approving the
Board’s budget and establishing spending limitations and 2) the Board cannot issue bonded debt, but the County
can and does issue bonds to finance school system operations. In addition, there are no component units which
are included in the Board's reporting entity.

The Board’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of net
assets and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more detailed level of
financial information.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The statement of net assets and the statement of activities display information about the Board as a whole.
These statements include the financial activities of the Board. The statements distinguish between those
activities of the Board that are governmental and those that are considered business-type activities.

The statement of net assets presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type activities of
the Board at year-end, excluding fiduciary funds. The statement of activities presents a comparison between
direct expenses and program revenues for each program or function of the Board’s governmental activities and
for business-type activities of the Board. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a
service, program or department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues
include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the program, grants and contributions
that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program and interest earned
on grants that is required to be used to support a particular program. Revenues which are not classified as
program revenues are presented as general revenues of the Board, with certain limited exceptions. The
comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each business segment or
governmental function is self-financing or draws from general revenues of the Board.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
B. Basis of Presentation (continued)
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year, the Board segregates transactions related to certain Board functions or activities in separate
funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance. Fund financial statements are
designed to present financial information of the Board at a more detailed level. The focus of governmental and
enterprise fund financial statements is on major funds. Each major fund is presented in a separate column.

C. Fund Accounting

The Board uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year. A fund is defined as a fiscal and
accounting entity with a self balancing set of accounts. There are three categories of funds: governmental,
proprietary and fiduciary.

GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed. Governmental
fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial resources. Expendable assets are
assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purpose for which they may or must be used.
Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid. The difference between governmental
fund assets and liabilities is reported as fund balance. The following are the Board’s major governmental funds:

General Fund - The General Fund is the general operating fund of the Board. All general revenues and other
receipts that are not allocated by law or contractual agreement to another fund and general operating
expenditures are accounted for in this fund.

Restricted Grants Fund - These funds are used to account for revenue resources that are restricted or committed
to specified purposes other than debt service and capital projects, such as federal, state, and local grants. The
Print Shop fund is also included as a restricted grant fund.

Capital Projects Fund - Capital Projects Funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the
acquisition or construction of major capital facilities. The Board administers the construction and repair of
public schools and uses the School Construction Fund to record the revenues from the County and other
governmental units and the expenditures in connection therewith.

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Proprietary funds focus on the determination of changes in net assets, financial position and cash flows and are
classified as enterprise.

Enterprise funds - Enterprise funds may be used to account for any activity for which a fee is charged to
external users for goods or services. The Board’s major enterprise funds are:

Food service fund - This fund accounts for the financial transactions related to the food service
operations of the Board.

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

Agency Fund - The funds of the School Activity Fund are administered by the individual schools in a fiduciary
capacity.

Private Purpose Trust Fund ~ These funds are held by the Board for scholarships and other student awards.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
C. Fund Accounting (continued)

Pension Trust Fund - The Board is the trustee for the assets held in a retirement plan for certain employees of
the Board of Education and the assets held in the 401(a) matching plan.

OPEB Trust Fund - The Board is the trustee for the assets held in an other post employment benefit plan for
certain employees of the Board of Education.

D. Measurement Focus

Government-wide financial statements — The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the
economic resources measurement focus. All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of the Board are
included on the statement of net assets.

Fund financial statements - All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities generally are
included on the balance sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances reports on
the sources (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) of
current financial resources. This approach differs from the manner in which the governmental activities of the
government-wide financial statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial statements therefore include a
reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the government-wide statements
and the statements for government funds.

Like the government-wide statements, all proprietary funds are accounted for on a flow of economic resources
measurement focus. All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are included on the
statement of net assets. The statement of changes in fund net assets presents increases (i.e., revenues) and
decreases (i.e., expenses) in net total assets. The statement of cash flows provides information about how the
Board finances and meets the cash flow needs of its proprietary activities.

E. Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on the
financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Proprietary and fiduciary funds also use the
accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and the modified accrual basis of accounting arise in the
recognition of revenue, the recording of deferred revenue, and in the presentation of expenses versus
expenditures.

Revenues-Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions — Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which
each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the exchange takes
place. On a modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the fiscal year in which the resources are
measurable and become available. Available means that the resources will be collected within the current fiscal
year or are expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal
year. For this purpose, the Board considers revenues to be available if they are collected within sixty days of
the end of the current fiscal year.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the Board receives value without directly giving equal value in return,
include primarily grants. Revenue from grants is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility
requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year
when the resources are required to be used or the year when use is first permitted, matching requirements, in
which the Board must provide local resources to be used for a specified purpose, and expenditure requirements,
in which the resources are provided to the Board on a reimbursable basis. On a modified accrual basis, revenue
from nonexchange transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
E. Basis of Accounting (continued)

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and
available at year end: interest, tuition, grants, fees and rentals.

Deferred revenue - Deferred revenue arises when assets are recognized before revenue recognition criteria have
been satisfied.

Grants received before the eligibility requirements are met are also recorded as deferred revenue.

On governmental fund financial statements, receivables that will not be collected within the available period
have also been reported as deferred revenue.

Expenses/Expenditures — On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are
incurred. The fair value of donated commodities used during the year is reported in the operating statement as
an expense with a like amount reported as donated commodities revenue. Unused donated commodities are
reported as deferred revenue.

The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources
(expenditures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in which
the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable. Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and amortization,
are not recognized in governmental funds.

F. Budgetary Data

The budget is prepared on the budgetary basis of accounting. The budget establishes a limit on the amounts that
the Board may appropriate and sets annual limits as to the amount of expenditures at a level of control selected
by the Board. The legal level of control has been established by the Board at the category level within each
fund.

The budget may be amended during the year if projected increases or decreases in revenue are identified. The
amounts reported as the original budgeted amounts in the budgetary statements reflect the amounts when the
original budget was adopted. The amounts reported in the final budgeted amounts reflect amendments approved
by the County government during the year between categories and those approved by the Board within
categories.

G. Inventory and Prepaid Items

On government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements of proprietary funds, inventories are
presented at the lower of cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis and are expensed when used. Food
received from the USDA is included at values stated by the USDA but is offset by a deferred credit until
consumed.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.

H. Capital Assets

General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities reported in proprietary funds. These
assets generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds. These assets are reported in the
governmental activities column of the government-wide statement of net assets but are not reported in the fund
financial statements. Capital assets utilized by the proprietary funds are reported both in the business-type
activities column of the government-wide statement of net assets and in the respective funds.

38




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
H. Capital Assets (continued)

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical costs) and updated for additions and retirements
during the year. Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair market values as of the date received. The

Board maintains a capitalization threshold of one thousand dollars. The Board does not possess any
infrastructure. Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add value
to the asset or materially extend an asset’s life are not.

All reported capital assets except land, land improvements and construction in progress are depreciated.
Improvements are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Description Estimated Lives
Buildings and Improvements 20 - 50 years
Furniture and Equipment 5 - 15 years
Vehicles 8 years

I. Compensated Absences
ACCRUED LEAVE

Compensated absences are reported as accrued in the government wide financial statements. Governmental
funds report only matured compensated absences payable to currently terminating employees.

J. Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide statements, and
all payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations payable from proprietary funds are reported on the
proprietary fund financial statements.

In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely manner
and in full from current financial resources, are reported as obligations of the funds. However, claims and
judgments and compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as a liability in the
fund financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment during the current year.

K. Net Assets

Net assets represent the difference between assets and liabilities. Net assets invested in capital assets, net of
related debt consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of
any borrowings used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net assets are reported
as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation adopted by
the Board or through external restrictions imposed by grantors, creditors or laws or regulations of other
governments.

The Board applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted
and unrestricted net assets are available.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
L. Fund Balance

During fiscal year 2010, the Board implemented the Governmental Accounting Standards Board’s Statement No.
54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions. Under this standard, fund balance is
reported as nonspendable (i.e. inventory or long term receivables), restricted (by external parties or legislation),
committed (by the highest level of authority of the government), assigned (i.e. residual amounts in other funds)
and unassigned.

M. Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of the proprietary
funds. For the Board, these revenues are sales for food service. Operating expenses are necessary costs
incurred to provide the good or service that is the primary activity of the fund. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this criteria are reported as nonoperating.

N. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

0. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Board’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments
with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Cash in the General Fund and
Food Service Fund is pooled into one account in order to maximize investment opportunities.

Investments are stated at fair value.

P. Interfund Receivables and Payables and Transfers

Activities between funds that are representative of lending or borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of
the fiscal year are referred to as “due to/from other funds.” Transfers are fund balance amounts reserved
and/or designated in the prior year that received County approval to be spent on capital projects.

Q. Encumbrance Accounting

Encumbrances for goods or purchased services are documented by purchase orders or contracts. Encumbrances
are reported as a reservation of fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements. Encumbrances
outstanding at June 30, 2010 that were provided for in the current year’s budget for the budgetary basis of
accounting but will be accounted for under generally accepted accounting principles in the subsequent year
totaled $4,516,287.

Note 2. Cash and Investments

Deposits and Investments Other Than Pension Funds:

The Board is authorized to invest monies for which it has custody or control. The type of investments are in
accordance with Section 6-222 of the Maryland State Finance and Procurement Article.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2. Cash and Investments (continued)

The Board’s investment policy for its non-pension funds authorizes its comptroller to invest money in any of the
following types of investments:

a. U.S. Treasury Obligations

b. Local Government Investment Pool
c. Repurchase Agreements

d. Collateralized Certificates of Deposit

The policy requires that the investments be on a short-term (less than one year) basis to reduce interest rate risk
and establishes maximum portfolio percentages for investments as follows:

Maximum Percent

Diversification by Instrument of Portfolio

U.S. Treasury Obligations 100%

Local Government Investment Pool 100%

Repurchase Agreements 30%
(Master Repurchase Agreements Required)

Collateralized Certficates of Deposit 10%

(Only Maryland Commercial Banks)

The policy requires collateralization for certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements. Such collateral must
be at least 102% of market value of principal and accrued interest. The Annotated Code of Maryland (Article
95, Section 22) requires that deposits with financial institutions by local boards of education be fully
collateralized. The Board’s policy requires collateral to be held by a custodian in accordance with Section 6-
209(c) of the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland and acceptable
collateral as specified under Section 6-202 of the same document.

These collateralization requirements are established to reduce custodial risk which is the risk that in the event of
a bank failure, the Board’s deposits may not be returned to it.

At June 30, 2010, the Board’s non-pension funds were invested as follows:

Carrying Bank
Value Balance
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,506,757 $ 3,030,129

The bank balances were exposed to custodial credit risk as follows:

Insured $ 3,030,129
Uninsured and collateral held by pledging

bank's trust department in the Board's name -
Uninsured and collateral held by pledging bank's

trust department not in the Board's name -
S 3,030,129

The Board invests in the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool (MLGIP) which was created with the
passage of Article 94 22G of the Annotated Code of Maryland. The MLGIP is managed by PNC Safe Deposit
and Trust Company which is under administrative control of the State Treasurer. A MLGIP Advisory
Committee of current participants has been formed to review the activities of the Fund on a quarterly basis and
provide suggestions to enhance the pool. The MLGIP is rated AAAm by Standard and Poors.

41




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2. Cash and Investments (continued)

The fair value of the pool is the same as the value of the pool shares. Investments are recorded at cost, which
approximates market value. Investments in MLGIP totaled $34,230,937 at June 30, 2010 with $8,072,947
committed/assigned for health insurance rate stabilization.

Pension and Other Trust Fund Investments:

The Investment policy of the Board’s Retirement Plan Trust requires that the pension funds be managed as a
balanced account with approximately a 60% equity, 40% government and corporate bond mix. Cash or cash
equivalents are to be less than 3% on a long-term basis. The policy also has certain restrictions on types and
amounts of investments that may be included in the portfolio, e.g. foreign securities, real estate, industry
groups, loans, controlling interests.

The Board’s pension investmenis are held by State Street, Aetna Insurance Company and Janus in the Board’s
name. The Board’s Retiree Health Plan Trust investments are held at State Street in the Board’s name.

Pension and other trust funds are invested as follows:

State State Street

Street AETNA Janus (GASB 45)
Cash and equivalents $ 293,808 $ 102,812 $ 147,187 $ 1,462,351
Government bonds 1,573,433 126,459 269,247 431,809
Commercial paper (less than 1 year) - 100,262 - -
Mortgage loans - 359,843 - -
Corporate bonds 3,373,398 1,981,191 650,941 1,147,124
Common stock 7,030,344 - 1,075,087 2,210,090
Total $ 12270983 $ 2,670,567 $ 2,142462 $ 5,251,374

Corporate bonds held at June 30, 2010 are rated by Standard & Poor’s as follows:

Percent of Corporate Bond Portfolio

State State Street
Rating Street AETNA Janus (GASB 45)
AAA 13.35% 29.00% 13.50%
AA+ 7.47% 8.61%
AA 4.11% 17.76% 8.72% 7.11%
AA- 9.84% 7.73%
A+ 6.00% 23.36% 11.61%
A 42.17% 41.12% 11.68% 45.98%
A- 2.87% 17.76% 2.25%
BBB+ 12.87% 3.21%
BBB 1.32% 33.33%
BB 12.79%
B 4.48%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2. Cash and Investments (continued)

State Street:

Corporate bond issues held at June 30, 2010 are as follows:

$70,000
$15,000
$70,000
$30,000
$75,000
$20,000
$75,000
$45,000
$45,000
$85,000
$25,000
$45,000
$65,000
$60,000
$25,000
$115,000
$75,000
$100,000
$50,000
$100,000
$75,000
$35,000
$90,000
$100,000
$100,000
$60,000
$60,000
$50,000
$100,000
$75,000
$60,000
$30,000
$135,000
$75,000
$77,000
$80,000
$50,000
$91,000
$30,000
$45,000
$50,000
$50,000
$100,000
$75,000

AT&T Inc.

Baker Hughes Inc.

Baker Hughes Inc.

Bank of America Corp.
Berkshire Hathaway
Berkshire Hathaway
Caterpillar Inc.

Cisco Systems Inc.
Conoco Phillips

Conoco Phillips

Deere & Company

E.L du Pont de Nemours
E.I. du Pont de Nemours
Duke University

GTE Corp.

General Dynamics Corp.
General Electric Co.

General Electric Capital Corp

Global Marine Inc.
Goldman Sachs Group
Hewlett Packard Co.
Hewlett Packard Co.
Honeywell International
JP Morgan Chase & Co.
Medtronic Inc.

Merrill Lynch & Co
Nucor Corp.

Occidental Pete

PPG Industries Inc.
PepsiCo Inc.

Pfizer Inc.

Pharmacia Corp.

Pitney Bowes MTN
Pitney Bowes Inc.
Prudential Financial Inc.
Schering Plough Corp.
Charles Schwab Corp.
Tele-Communications Inc.

Toyota Motor Credit Corp.

United Parcel Service
United Tech Corp.
Washington Post Co.
Wells Fargo & Co.
Wells Fargo & Co.
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4.85%
6.50%
7.50%
4.88%
4.63%
5.00%
7.00%
5.50%
5.20%
4.75%
8.50%
6.00%
5.88%
5.15%
6.84%
5.25%
5.25%
3.00%
7.00%
3.25%
5.50%
6.13%
4.25%
3.13%
4.75%
6.15%
5.75%
6.75%
6.88%
7.90%
5.35%
8.70%
4.75%
4.63%
4.50%
5.55%
4.95%
7.88%
4.35%
5.50%
5.38%
7.25%
3.00%
4.38%

Due
02/15/14
11/15/13
11/15/18
09/15/12
10/15/13
08/15/13
12/15/13
02/22/16
05/15/18
02/01/14
01/09/22
07/15/18
01/15/14
04/01/19
04/15/18
02/01/14
12/06/17
12/09/11
06/01/28
06/15/12
03/01/18
03/01/14
03/01/13
12/01/11
09/15/15
04/25/13
12/01/17
01/15/12
02/15/12
11/01/18
03/15/15
10/15/21
05/15/18
10/01/12
07/15/13
12/01/13
06/01/14
08/01/13
12/15/10
01/15/18
12/15/17
02/01/19
12/09/11
01/13/13




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2. Cash and Investments (continued)

AETNA:

Corporate bond issues held at June 30, 2010 are as follows:

Janus:

Province of Quebec
HSBC Holding PLC

JP Morgan Chase & Co
CitiGroup Inc.

Pfizer Inc.

Corporate bond issues held at June 30, 2010 are as follows:

Janus Balanced Fund T (JABAX)
Average duration 4.56 years

Note 3. Interfund Receivables and Payables

At June 30, 2010, the interfund account balances are as follows:

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES:
General Fund
Due to Food Service Fund
Due to Restricted Funds
Due to Capital Projects Fund
Due to School Activities Fund
Due to Trust Fund

Restricted Grants
Due from General Fund

Capital Projects Fund
Due from General Fund

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Enterprise Fund
Due from General Fund

FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
Due from General Fund

TOTAL ALL FUNDS

Due From Due To
Other Funds Other Funds
$ - $ 512,233
178,487 -
- 4,550,705
- 413,379
- 161,866
- 178,487
4,550,705 -
512,233 -
575,245 -

$ 5,816,670 $ 5,816,670

Percent of
Holdings
23.36%
20.56%
20.56%
17.76 %
17.76%

Percent of

Holdings
100.00%

Due to/from balances represent advances of cash for operating needs. Transfers of $750,000 from the General
Fund to the Food Services Fund are to supplement wages and benefits.
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Note 4. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2010 was as follows:

Governmental Activities

Capital Assets, not being depreciated
Land
Construction in progress

Total capital assets, not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated
Buildings and improvements
Furniture and equipment

Vehicles

Total capital assets, being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements
Furniture and equipment
Vehicles

Total accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net

Governmental activities capital assets, net $184,194,337 $24,568,775 $

Business-type activities

Equipment
Accumulated depreciation

Business-type activities capital assets, net

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows:

Administration

Instructional services

Special Education

Student Personnel Services
Health Services

Student transportation

Operation of plant and equipment
Maintenance of plant

Community Services

Total depreciation expense
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Balance Balance
June 30, 2009 Additions Deductions Transfers June 30, 2010
$ 2,024,109 $ 1,955,631 - $ 100,000 $ 4,079,740

44,246,641 26,026,559 - (639,987) 69,633,213

46,270,750 27,982,190 - (539,987) 73,712,953

180,776,957 38,170 (275,252) 539,987 181,079,862
21,808,279 3,716,506 (228,239) - 25,296,546
1,336,683 5,042 (26,969) - 1,314,756
203,921,919 3,759,718 (530,460) 539,987 207,691,164
(52,767,578)  (4,189,908) 235,030 - (56,722,456)
(12,400,834)  (2,872,560) 198,453 - (15,074,941)
(829,920) (110,665) 26,969 - (913,616)
(65,998,332  (7,173,133) 460,452 - (72,711,013)
137,923,587 (3,413,415) (70,008) 539,987 134,980,151
(70,008) $ - $208,693,104
1,872,006 $ 289,083 $ (53,567) $ - $ 2,107,522
(1,591,254) (74,602) 51,459 - (1,614,397)
280,752 $ 214,481 2,108) $ - $ 493,125

$ 156,606

6,281,079

18,671

1,391

5,481

15,678

672,093

21,638
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$ 7,173,133




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 5. Health Insurance Reserves

The Board entered into a public entities health care consortium with the City of Salisbury and Wicomico County
Council during fiscal year 2002. The purpose of this consortium is to reduce administrative expenses. Each
entity has its premium rates adjusted based on its experience and benefits. Beginning in July 2002, each entity
agreed to fund a rate stabilization reserve equal to 10% of average annual premiums. The agreement was
originally effective through the period ended August 31, 2004 and is currently extended on an annual basis.
Each year the health care provider will produce an annual settlement for all entities. If there is an experience
loss, funding will come from the entities based on their individual experience. Settlement among the group will
occur within four months after August 31* each year.

For the year ended June 30, 2010, the health insurance reserve had the following activity:

Balance at July 1, 2009 $ 7,769,336
Subsidy for rate increase (1,235,147)
Positive settlement - 2009 2,858,530
Interest earned (net of expenditures) 10,228
Other - transfer adjustment (1,330,000)

Balance at June 30, 2010 $ 8,072,947

The consortium’s contract with its health insurance carrier requires that actual incurred claims and expenses be
compared to actual premiums paid to determine whether a deposit premium deficit has been incurred each year.
Under the contract, the health insurance carrier can only require payment against the deficit of up to 5% of the
actual monthly premiums paid in the current fiscal year. The health insurance contract is based on a fiscal year
of September 1* through August 31%, For the period ended August 31, 2009, the Board’s share of the
consortium’s settlement was a surplus of $2,858,530, which was included as an other financing source during
the year ended June 30, 2010.

Note 6. Post-Retirement Health Care Benefits

During the year ended June 30, 2007, the Board changed its method of accounting for post-employment benefits
other than pensions by adopting Statement of Governmental Accounting Standards (GASB) Statement No. 45,
Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions.

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, the Board funded 70% of the individual health care insurance costs for
retirees who were qualified to retire on or after July 17, 2007 based on the rules of their respective pension; and
who had accumulated at least 10 years of service with the Board prior to their retirement. The Board
previously funded 55% of the individual health care insurance costs for eligible retirees who had accumulated at
least 15 years of service with the Board prior to retirement (before July 17, 2007). Approximately 640 retirees
who have worked for at least five years are eligible to participate in the post-retirement benefit program.

Plan Description
During the year ended June 30, 2007, Wicomico County and the Board of Education jointly set up the ‘Retiree
Health Insurance Plan Trust of the Board of Education of Wicomico County and Wicomico County’ (“the
trust”). A Board of Trustees (“the Board”) oversees the trust. Effective June 29, 2009, the City of Salisbury
was approved to join the trust. Separate financial statements for the trust are not issued.

The Plan is an agent multiple-employer plan with combined administrative functions for efficiency and each
agent employer remains responsible for financing benefits of its own individual plan. Each agent employer also
remains individually responsible for its own separate actuarial valuations, and expenses and obligations are
measured like those of sole employers. The assets of the three entities are segregated within the trust.

The plan provides medical, prescription, dental, and vision benefits to eligible retirees and their spouses.
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Note 6. Post-Retirement Health Care Benefits (continued)

Funding Policy
The required contribution is based on projected pay-as-you-go financing requirements with an additional amount
to pre-fund benefits as determined annually. For the current fiscal year, the Board contributed $3.746 million
to the plan, including $2.093 million for current claim costs (approximately 70% of total premiums); an
additional $1.585 million to pre-fund benefits and an estimated retiree subsidy of $68,000. Plan members
receiving benefits contributed approximately 30% of the total claim costs premiums, through their required
contributions of $172 per month for retirees-only coverage (if under 65), $128 per month for retirees-only
coverage (if 65 or older) and $924 for retiree and spouse coverage.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation
The Board’s annual other post-retirement benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual
required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the
parameters of GASB Statement 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is
projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over
a period not to exceed 30 years.

The following table shows the components of the Board’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount actually
contributed to the plan, and changes in the Board’s net OPEB obligation.

Annual required contribution $ 3,553,000
Interest on net OPEB obligation (30,750)
Adjustment to annual required contribution 43,200

Annual OPEB cost (expense) 3,565,450
Contributions made (3,746,000)

Net OPEB obligation (asset) (180,550)
Net OPEB obligation (asset) at beginning of year (1,169,550)
Net OPEB obligation (asset) at end of year $ (1,350,100)

The Board’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the Plan, and the net OPEB
obligation (asset) were as follows:

Percentage
of Annual
Year Ended Annual OPEB  OPEB Cost Net OPEB
June 30, Cost Contributed Asset
2008 $ 2,594,000 143.10% $  (410,000)
2009 2,613,450 129.06% (1,169,550)
2010 3,565,450 105.06% (1,350,100)

Funding Status and Funding Progress
As of July 2009, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 6.6% funded. The actuarial accrued
liability for benefits was $48,341,000 and the actuarial value of assets was $3,209,000 resulting in an unfunded
actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $45,132,000. The covered payroll was $109,000,000 and the ratio of the
UAAL to the covered payroll was 41.41%.
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Note 6. Post-Retirement Health Care Benefits (continued)

Funding Status and Funding Progress (continued)
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the
plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding
progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements,
presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing
over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood
by the employer and the plan members) and include the type of benefits provided at the time of each valuation
and the historical pattern of sharing the benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point.
The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-
term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long term
perspective of the calculations.

In the July 2009 actuarial valuation study, the projected unit credit actuarial cost method was used. The
actuarial assumptions included a 7.5% investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses), which is a
blended rate of the expected long-term investment returns on plan assets and on the employer’s own investments
calculated based on the funded level of the plan assets at the valuation date, and an annual healthcare cost trend
rate of 8% initially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 5% after three years. The actuarial value of
assets was determined using a standard balanced portfolio expectation for retirement plan asset returns. The
UAAL is being amortized as a level percentage of payroll on an open basis. The remaining amortization period
was 30 years.

Note 7. Risk Management

The Board is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Board has joined the Maryland
Association of Boards of Education Workers’ Compensation Group Insurance Fund (the “Fund”), a public entity
risk pool currently providing workers compensation coverage for participating boards of education in the State
of Maryland. The Board pays an annual premium to the Fund each year which is calculated based on projected
payroll. The agreement for the Fund provides that it will be self-sustaining though member premiums and will
reinsure through commercial companies for claims which exceed coverage limits as specified in the agreement.
Should the Fund encounter deficits in the workers compensation claims fund, this deficit may be made up from
additional assessments of boards participating in the fund. The Board also joined the Maryland Association of
Board of Education’s Group Insurance Pool (the Pool) on July 1, 2000. The Pool is a public entity risk pool
providing property and casualty insurance coverage for its participating members, who are also boards of
education in the State of Maryland. The Board pays an annual premium to the Pool, based on student
enrollment, vehicle inventory, insurable value of board property and insurance claims experience from previous
years. The agreement for the Pool provides that it will be self sustaining through member premiums and will
reinsure through commercial companies for claims that exceed coverage limits for legal liability, property, and
crime exposures specified in the agreement. Should the Pool encounter deficits in either the property or casualty
fund, this deficit may be made up from additional assessments of boards participating in Pool. The Board
continues to carry commercial insurance for other risks, including pollution liability, retirement plan fiduciary
liability, employee health and life insurance. Settled claims have not exceeded insurance coverage for each of
the past three fiscal years.
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Note 8. Pension Plans
Substantially all of the Board’s employees are covered by one of three pension plans.
Teachers Retirement System and the Teachers Pension System

General Plan Policies

Teachers and related occupations are covered by the Teachers Retirement System or the Teachers Pension
System of the State of Maryland, both of which are cost-sharing, multiple-employer public employee retirement
systems. Except for restricted programs as described below, the State pays virtually all of the employer’s
annual contribution. Total contributions paid by the State to the Plan for the year ended June 30, 2010 were
$12,316,880. For teachers and other employees whose retirement expense is reimbursed from Federal
Restricted Grants, the Board remits monthly payments to the State which represent the amount of retirement
expense charged to these restricted programs. The Board has no contingent liability for funding deficits in the
system should such occur. The contribution and percentage of contribution for the past three years are as
follows:

Contribution
Year Ended Annual Percentage Percentage
June 30, Contribution Contributed of Salary
2008 $ 634,040 100% 11.60%
2009 $ 647,132 100% 11.70%
2010 $ 774,377 100% 13.15%

The Teachers Retirement System of the State of Maryland was established on August 1, 1927 and is
administered in accordance with Article 73B of the Annotated Code of Maryland for the purpose of providing
retirement allowances and other benefits to teachers in the State. In addition, on January 1, 1980, the Teachers
Pension System of the State of Maryland was established. In this regard, teachers hired on or after January 1,
1980 become members of the Teachers Pension System, unless they elect to join an optional retirement
program. Existing members of the Teachers Retirement System have the option of remaining in the Teachers
Retirement System or transferring to the Teachers Pension System.

Significant Plan Benefits and Policies

The following is a general description of the significant plan benefits and related contribution requirements for
the Teachers Retirement System and the Teachers Pension System:

Teachers Retirement System

Retirement Benefits:
A member may retire with full benefits after attaining the age of 60, or after completing 30 years of creditable
service regardless of age. The annual retirement allowance is equal to 1/55 of a member’s average final
compensation (i.e. average of the member’s three highest years of annual earnable compensation) multiplied by
the number of years of creditable service. A member may retire with reduced benefits after completing 25
years of creditable service regardless of age.

Vested Allowance:
A member terminating employment before attaining retirement age but after completing 5 years of creditable
service becomes eligible for a vested retirement allowance, provided the member lives to the age of 60 and does
not withdraw his or her accumulated contributions. Members terminating employment before attaining
retirement age and before completing 5 years of creditable service are refunded their accumulated contributions
plus earned interest.
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Note 8. Pension Plans (continued)
Teachers Retirement System and the Teachers Pension System (continued)

Significant Plan Benefits and Policies (continued)

Employee and Employer Contributions:
Members of the Teachers Retirement System are required to contribute to the systems a fixed percentage of
their regular salaries and wages (e.g. 7% or 5%, depending on the allowance option selected). The
contributions are deducted from each member’s salary and wage payment and are remitted to the systems on a

regular, periodic basis.

The State of Maryland makes virtually all of the nonemployee contributions in amounts required by State
statutes.

Teachers Pension System

Retirement Benefits:
A member may retire with full benefits after completing 30 years of eligibility service regardless of age, or at
age 62 or older with specified years of eligibility service. On retirement from service, a member shall receive
an annual service retirement allowance. The annual retirement allowance is equal to 1.2% of average
compensation for the three highest consecutive years as an employee for years of creditable service before June
30, 1998 and 1.8% of average compensation for the three highest consecutive years as an employee for years of
creditable service after June 30, 1998.

Vested Allowance:
A member terminating employment before attaining retirement age, but after completing 5 years of eligibility
service, becomes eligible for a vested retirement allowance provided the member lives to age 62. Members
terminating employment before attaining retirement age and before completing 5 years of eligibility service are
refunded their accumulated contributions plus earned interest.

Employee and Employer Contributions:
Members of the Teachers Pension System are required to contribute to the systems 5% of their regular salaries
and wages up to the social security wage base in the year ending June 30, 2010. The contributions are deducted
from each member’s salary and wage payments and are remitted to the systems on a regular, periodic basis.

The State of Maryland makes virtually all of the nonemployee contributions in amounts required by State
statutes.

Employer’s Payroll Covered Under the Plan

The employer’s payroll for the year ended June 30, 2010 and payroll covered under the Teachers Retirement
and Pension Systems is as follows:

Total payroll $ 114,667,186
Payroll covered under the plans $ 95,724,496

Additional information and ten year historical trend information can be obtained from the separately issued State
Retirement and Pension System of Maryland Annual Financial Report. The report may be obtained by writing
to the State Retirement and Pension System of Maryland, 720 East Baltimore Street, Baltimore, Maryland
21202.
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Note 8. Pension Plans (continued)
Retirement Plan for Employees of the Board of Education of Wicomico County
General Plan Policies
Employees not covered by the Teachers Retirement System or the Teachers Pension System of Maryland are
covered by the Retirement Plan for Employees at the Board of Education of Wicomico County, a defined
benefit plan. Effective January 1, 1994, this plan was merged with the Wicomico County plan to become the
retirement plan for employees of Wicomico County and the Board of Education of Wicomico County. Plan
provisions remained relatively unchanged. Separate financial statements are not available.
Significant Plan Benefits and Policies
The following is a summary of significant plan benefits and policies:
1) Eligibility - Employees are eligible if they are at least 18 years of age.
2) Contributions ~ Each year an employee is required to contribute 2% of his earnings up to $4,800
plus 4% of his earnings in excess of $4,800. Interest is credited at 5% per year. The Board
contributes the remaining actuarially determined amounts necessary.

3) Retirement:

a. Normal retirement is available for employees who are age 65 and over and have obtained
5 years of service.

b. Early retirement is available for employees with five years or more experience and who
are age 55 or older and are within 10 years of normal retirement date.

4) Benefits at Retirement:

a. For normal retirement, the member will receive a benefit equal to 1 2/3% of final average
earnings times the years and months of service after age 18.

b. Early retirement benefits are determined in the same manner as the normal retirement
benefits but based on service and salary accrued or earned up to date of early retirement
and reduced by the appropriate early retirement factors.

5) Vesting - A participant is 100% vested after five years of continuous service with the employer.
Employee’s Payroll Covered Under the Plan

The employee’s payroll for the year ended June 30, 2010 and payroll covered under the Plan is as follows:

Total payroll $114,667,186
Payroll covered under the plans $ 9,925,869

Plan membership at July 1, 2009, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, consisted of 323 active plan members
and 149 retirees and beneficiaries.
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Note 8. Pension Plans (continued)
Retirement Plan for Employees of the Board of Education of Wicomico County (continued)

The Board’s annual pension cost, annual contribution, and percentage of contribution are as follows:

Year Ended Annual Pension Annual Percentage

June 30, Cost Contribution Contributed
2008 3 446,222 § 513,514 115%
2009 416,267 529,564 127%
2010 516,743 591,306 114%

In management’s opinion, any net pension obligation or asset is immaterial to the financial statements.

The schedule of funding progress presented in the required supplementary schedules was determined as part of
the actuarial valuations at the dates indicated. Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation follows:

Valuation date July 1, 2009
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal
Amortization method Level Percent of Payroll, open basis
Remaining amortization period 30 Years
Asset valuation method Market
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 7.75%
Projected salary increases 4.50%

401(a) Matching Plan

Effective July 1, 2001, the Board implemented and began administering the Wicomico County Board of
Education defined contribution plan. The employer’s contribution is determined annually by the Board and is
based on eligible participant’s contributions to the 403(b) plan. The Board has the right to amend the plan at
any time according to the Plan document. Eligible employees must be 18 years of age and become fully vested
after five years of service. During the year ended June 30, 2010, there were 1,234 eligible participants for
whom the Board contributed a total of $423,015.

Note 9. Trust Plans Condensed Financial Statements

Condensed financial statements for the Pension and Retiree Health Plan Trust are as follows:

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

401(A) Employees Retiree Health
Matching Fund Pension Plan Trust Total
ASSETS
Current assets $ 2,565,477 $ 14,941,550 §$ 5,251,374  $ 22,758,401
Total assets 2,565,477 14,941,550 5,251,374 22,758,401
NET ASSETS

Held in trust for retirement
and other benefits $ 2,565,477 $ 14,941,550 $ 5,251,374 § 22,758,401
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Note 9. Trust Plans Condensed Financial Statements (continued)

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

401(A) Employees Retiree Health
Matching Fund Pension Plan Trust Total
ADDITIONS
Contributions $ 423,015 $ 996,316 $ 1,584,655 % 3,003,986
Investment earnings 173,676 1,613,106 472,418 2,259,200
Total additions 596,691 2,609,422 2,057,073 5,263,186
DEDUCTIONS :
Pension benefit payments 55,501 833,409 - 888,910
Administrative expenses - 122,026 14,513 136,539
Total deductions 55,501 955,435 14,513 1,025,449
Change in net assets 541,190 1,653,987 2,042,560 4,237,737
Net assets beginning of year 2,024,287 13,287,563 3,208,814 18,520,664
Net assets end of year $ 2,565,477 $ 14,941,550 $ 5,251,374 § 22,758,401

Note 10. Capital Leases

The Board of Education has entered into several lease agreements as lessee for financing the acquisition of
computers, software, and vehicles. These lease agreements qualify as a capital lease for accounting purposes
and, therefore, have been recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments as of the date of
their inception. The following is an analysis of equipment currently being leased under capital leases as of June

30, 2010:

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

Vehicles
Computers:
2007

2008

2009

2010

Total

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Equipment:
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$

$

Capital
Assets

328,062
1,761,739

2,614,938
1,566,000

1,554,556

7,825,295

140,077
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Note 10. Capital Leases (continued)
Approximate future minimum lease commitments are as follows:

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

Computers
Fiscal Year Ending 2010 2009 2008 Vehicles Total
June 30, 2011 $ 414,880 $ 411,500 $ 691,689 $ 41,250 §$ 1,559,319
June 30, 2012 414,880 410,372 - - 825,252
June 30, 2013 375,069 - - - 375,069
1,204,829 821,872 691,689 41,250 2,759,640
Less: amount representing interest (65,153) (39,849) (25,946) (1,636) (132,584)
Present value of future
minimum lease payments $ 1,139,676 $ 782,023 $ 665,743 $ 39,614 $ 2,627,056
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Equipment
June 30, 2011 $ 36,500
June 30, 2012 36,500
June 30, 2013 36,500
109,500
Less: amount representing interest (5,923)
Present value of future
minimum lease payments $ 103,577

Interest expense related to the above capital leases, with interest rates ranging from 3.38% to 4.13%, was
approximately $111,000 for the year ended June 30, 2010.

Note 11. Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2010 was as follows:

Beginning Ending Due Within
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Accrued compensated absences $ 2,903,785 $ 744,172 $ 280,203 $ 3,367,754 $ 380,568

Capital leases 3,031,468 1,554,556 1,958,968 2,627,056 1,473,268
Total $ 5935253 $ 2,298,728 $ 2,239,171 $ 5,994,810 $ 1,853,836
Beginning Ending Due Within
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Capital leases $ - $ 140,077 $ 36,500 $ 103,577 $ 33,317

The Board does not have the authority to incur bonded debt. Payments for compensated absences have typically
been liquidated in the General Fund in prior years.
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Note 12. Deferred Revenue — Restricted Grants

Deferred revenue in the restricted grant fund consists of federal and state grants and other revenues that have
not been expended by June 30, 2010. Deferred revenue at June 30, 2010 consists of the following:

Medical assistance provider payments $ 754,085
Various other state and federal programs 238,720
$ 992,805

Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies

The Board regularly enters into contracts for goods and services during the normal course of operations. The
contracts often extend over fiscal years. The Board has signed contracts for the renovation of James M. Bennett
High School in the amount of $76,812,545. At June 30, 2010, $67,745,392 had been expended. The Board
also has signed contracts for the renovation of Bennett Middle School in the amount of $2,996,900. At June
30, 2010, $493,134 had been expended on the renovation of Bennett Middle School.

The Board receives a substantial amount of its support from Federal, State and local agencies in the form of
grants. Costs charged to the respective grant programs are subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor
agencies; therefore, to the extent that the Board has not complied with the rules and regulations governing the
grants, refunds of any money received may be required and the collectability of any related receivable at June
30, 2010 may be impaired. In the opinion of the Board, there are no significant contingent liabilities relating to
compliance with the rules and regulations governing the respective grants; therefore, no provision has been
recorded in the accompanying financial statements for such contingencies.

The Board is a defendant in various lawsuits. After considering all relevant facts and the opinion of legal

counsel, it is management’s opinion that such litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the financial
position of the Board.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS AND EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
Retiree Health Insurance Plan Trust

Schedule of Funding Progress:

Actuarial UAAL as a
Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Unfunded Percentage
Valuation Value of Liability (AAL) AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Date Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
(@) (L) (b-a) (a/b) © (b-a)/c
07/01/07 $ 210,000 $ 30,475,000 $ 30,265,000 0.69% $ 104,603,000 28.93%
07/01/08 2,181,000 34,046,000 31,865,000 6.41% 109,000,000 29.23%
07/01/09 3,209,000 48,341,000 45,132,000 6.64% 109,000,000 41.41%
Schedule of Employer Contributions:
Percentage
of Annual
Year Ended Employer Annual OPEB OPEB Cost
June 30, Contributions Cost Contributed
2008 $ 3,713,000 $ 2,594,000 143.10%
2009 3,373,000 2,613,450 129.06%
2010 3,746,000 3,565,450 105.06%
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS AND EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
Pension Plan for Employees

Schedule of Funding Progress:

Actuarial UAAL as a
Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Unfunded Percentage
Valuation Value of Liability (AAL) AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Date Assets Entry Age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
(a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) © (b-a)/c
07/01/00 $ 9,801,306 $ 9,610,680 $ (190,626) 101.98% $ 4,831,638 -3.95%
07/01/01 10,513,887 10,125,989 (387,898) 103.83% 5,418,831 -7.16%
07/01/02 9,889,757 10,932,388 1,042,631 90.46% 5,677,963 18.36%
07/01/03 10,066,394 11,637,837 1,571,443 86.50% 5,951,447 26.40%
07/01/04 11,230,846 12,556,267 1,325,421 89.44% 6,353,085 20.86%
07/01/05 12,113,245 13,883,815 1,770,570 87.25% 6,708,737 26.39%
07/01/06 13,375,529 14,610,973 1,235,444 91.54% 7,034,996 17.56%
07/01/07 15,284,191 15,820,246 536,055 96.61% 7,538,827 7.11%
07/01/08 15,642,697 16,870,084 1,227,387 92.72% 8,484,889 14.47%
07/01/09 13,369,971 18,200,762 4,830,791 73.46% 9,168,811 52.69%
Schedule of Employer Contributions:
Percentage
of Annual
Year Ended Employer Annual Pension Cost
June 30, Contributions Pension Cost Contributed
2008 $ 513,514 $ 446,222 115%
2009 529,564 416,267 127%
2010 591,306 516,743 114%
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2010

Budgeted Amounts

Variance With

Original Final Actual Final Budget
REVENUES
County appropriation 50,781,711 $ 50,781,711 $ 50,781,711 § -
Other local:
Tuition - Delaware nonresident pupils 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,664,663 464,663
Tuition - other 40,000 40,000 23,592 (16,408)
Student payments/fees 8,000 8,000 11,544 3,544
Earnings on investments 250,000 250,000 20,364 (229,636)
Rental of school facilities 120,000 120,000 101,476 (18,524)
Miscellaneous 76,500 76,500 204,467 127,967
Total other local 1,694,500 1,694,500 2,026,106 331,606
State of Maryland revenues:
Current expense aid 63,976,548 63,976,548 63,977,413 865
Guaranteed tax base 6,758,330 6,758,330 6,759,311 981
Special education 6,047,198 6,047,198 6,047,577 379
Transportation 4,573,339 4,573,339 4,336,438 (236,901)
Miscellaneous 15,000 15,000 10,700 (4,300)
Non-public placement 80,000 80,000 32,316 (47,684)
Aging schools 106,627 106,627 106,627 -
Limited English proficient 1,794,457 1,794,457 1,794,512 55
Compensatory education 29,268,843 29,268,843 29,270,482 1,639
Total State of Maryland revenues 112,620,342 112,620,342 112,335,376 (284,966)
Other sources:
Out of county living 210,000 210,000 238,237 28,237
Administrative costs reimbursements 200,000 200,000 409,488 209,488
Total other sources 410,000 410,000 647,725 237,725
TOTAL REVENUES 165,506,553 165,506,553 165,790,918 284,365
EXPENDITURES
Administration 4,256,832 4,261,178 3,954,646 306,532
School management and support 11,854,495 11,850,148 11,769,855 80,293
Instructional salaries 67,331,217 67,356,839 66,405,576 951,263
Textbooks and instructional supplies 3,517,604 3,619,643 3,432,817 186,826
Other instruction costs 1,861,023 1,703,404 1,288,640 414,764
Student personnel services 2,281,787 2,308,247 2,237,766 70,481
Health services 1,488,602 1,502,285 1,449,456 52,829
Student transportation 8,238,009 8,241,509 7,969,842 271,667
Operation of plant and equipment 11,333,964 11,333,963 10,692,722 641,241
Maintenance of plant 3,037,970 3,037,970 2,757,014 280,956
Fixed charges 28,643,620 28,669,441 27,528,447 1,140,994
Community services 217,361 217,361 203,667 13,694
Capital outlay 6,823,277 6,823,277 5,806,440 1,016,837
Special education 14,170,792 14,631,288 14,430,180 201,108
Food service 750,000 750,000 750,000 -
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 165,806,553 $ 166,306,553 $ 160,677,068 § 5,629,485
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Continued)
Budgeted Amounts Variance With
Original Final Actual Final Budget
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES BEFORE OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES (USES) $ (300,000) $ (800,000) $ 5,113,850 $ 5,913,850
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Appropriation to school construction fund - - (1,807,223) 1,807,223
Appropriation from designated medicaid
fund balance - 500,000 500,000 -
Appropriation from June 30, 2009
fund balance 300,000 300,000 300,000 -
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES) 300,000 800,000 (1,007,223) 1,807,223
EXCESS OF REVENUES AND OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES OVER
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER
FINANCING USES $ -3 - $ 4,106,627 $ 4,106,627
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES

BUDGET AND ACTUAL
RESTRICTED GRANTS
Year Ended June 30, 2010

Variance With

Budget Actual Final Budget
REVENUES
Federal sources $ 16,827,236 $ 13,556,335 $  (3,270,901)
State sources 976,321 1,089,480 113,159
Local and other sources 806,735 557,202 (249,533)
TOTAL REVENUES 18,610,292 15,203,017 (3,407,275)
EXPENDITURES
Administration 954,871 1,067,165 (112,294)
School management and support 35,928 31,146 4,782
Instructional salaries 4,613,059 4,726,810 (113,751)
Textbooks and instructional supplies 579,261 1,028,517 (449,256)
Other instruction costs 3,335,131 1,663,802 1,671,329
Special education 4,801,209 4,135,657 665,552
Student personnel services - 1,854 (1,854)
Health services 72,539 1,725 70,814
Student transportation 323,585 225,158 98,427
Operation of plant and equipment 1,197 1,880 (683)
Fixed charges 2,673,915 2,872,324 (198,409)
Community services - 16 (16)
Capital outlay 1,219,597 - 1,219,597
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 18,610,292 15,756,054 2,854,238
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES BEFORE OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES (USES) - (553,037) 553,037
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Interfund transfers - 563,537 (563,537)
EXCESS OF REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES
AND OTHER FINANCING USES $ - $ 10,500 $ (10,500)
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NOTES TO BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The original budget, subsequent supplements and major transfers are approved by the Wicomico County
Council. Appropriations are for one year and lapse at year end.

A legally adopted budget is prepared for the General Fund and Restricted Grants. Amendments to the budget
can be made with approval from Wicomico County and the Board for intercategory transfers, and by approval
of the Board for intracategory transfers. By law, actual expenditures for each category and for each account
within categories may not exceed budgeted expenditures. The budgeted amounts presented include all budget
revisions. A budget is adopted for the Food Service Fund for internal purposes only.

The Board of Education prepares its budget and accounts for certain transactions on a basis other than generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Thus, there are two statements of revenues and expenditures for the
general fund in these statements; the first is prepared in accordance with GAAP and the second is prepared on
the budgetary basis in order to compare revenues and expenditures with budget. One of the differences between
the two statements is that increases (decreases) in asset account balances for prepaid expenditures and
inventories are accounted for as expenditure reductions or sources (increases or uses) on the GAAP basis
financial statements, but not on the budgetary financial statements. In addition, the appropriation from prior
year fund balance is accounted for as additional sources for budgetary purposes. Encumbrances are recorded as
expenditures for budgetary purposes but as a reservation of fund balance in the GAAP basis financial
statements. Finally, the State’s share of the pension and retirement fund contribution is recorded as revenue and
expenditures on the GAAP basis financial statements, but is not included on the budgetary financial statements.

Adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations and fund balances at the end of the year on the
GAAP basis to the budgetary basis are as follows:

GAAP Basis

Other
Financing
Sources
Revenues Expenditures (Uses)
General Fund  General Fund  General Fund
June 30, June 30, June 30,
2010 2010 2010

$ 178,001,171

$ 171,817,935

$  (1,262,593)

Changes in asset account balances
not accounted for on Budgetary Statement:

Increase in Rate Stabilization Reserve - - (303,611)
Appropriation from designated Medicaid fund balance - - 500,000
Appropriation from June 30, 2009 - - 300,000
Transfers to other funds recorded as

budgetary expenditures - 1,313,537 1,313,537
Encumbrances recorded as expenditures:

Established in current year - 4,516,287 -

Reversed from prior year - (3,099,255) -
Revenues recorded based on encumbered expenditures 106,627 - -
State share of retirement and pension

contribution (12,316,880) (12,316,880) -
Capital outlay funded by capital leases - (1,554,556) (1,554,556)
Budgetary Basis $ 165,790,918 $ 160,677,068 $ (1,007,223)
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NOTES TO BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

Note 2. Budget Calendar

The following calendar reflects the general sequence of events for the preparation and adoption of the operating
budget of The Board of Education of Wicomico County:

Approximate Date Procedure Performed
Early December Department heads review and submit requests based upon needs as
outlined in the Board's comprehensive master plan
Early January Review compilation of departmental budget requests with the

Superintendent, Asst Superintendent and Directors, and establish
priority listing

Late January Public meeting to review proposed budget
February Board meets with supervisors and staff to review all requests and
develop priority lists
Mid-March Regular meeting - Board meets for final adoption of the proposed
budget
March Submission of proposed budget to county council
Late May County council notifies Board of appropriation for education
June Board works on revised budget based on actual appropriation
Early June Public meeting held to review actual budget allocations
June Board adopts budget
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF APPROPRIATIONS AND EXPENDITURES
GENERAL FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS

Administration:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total administration

School management and support:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total school management and support
Instructional salaries and wages
Textbooks and instructional supplies

Other instructional costs:
Contracted services
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total other instructional costs

Special education:
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Equipment
Transfers

Total special education

Year Ended June 30, 2010

Budgeted Amounts Variance With
Original Final Actual Final Budget

3,112,945 § 3,112,944 § 3,033,351 $ 79,593
756,721 824,839 689,621 135,218
138,307 97,148 59,498 37,650
160,983 151,672 113,451 38,221
36,000 22,699 7,021 15,678
51,876 51,876 51,704 172
4,256,832 4,261,178 3,954,646 306,532
10,492,396 10,554,396 10,546,674 7,722
796,936 786,936 775,188 11,748
137,699 136,724 129,530 7,194
383,962 327,144 278,709 48,435
14,200 15,646 11,205 4,441
29,302 29,302 28,549 753
11,854,495 11,850,148 11,769,855 80,293
67,331,217 67,356,839 66,405,576 951,263
3,517,604 3,619,643 3,432,817 186,826
978,253 943,790 662,960 280,830
311,684 266,252 172,215 94,037
183,679 115,485 101,641 13,844
387,407 377,877 351,824 26,053
1,861,023 1,703,404 1,288,640 414,764
13,327,053 13,356,202 13,356,202 -
183,280 189,280 188,637 643
150,108 150,108 139,517 10,591
81,220 83,220 57,600 25,620
7,815 7,815 7,689 126
421,316 844,663 680,535 164,128
14,170,792 $ 14,631,288 $ 14,430,180 $ 201,108
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF APPROPRIATIONS AND EXPENDITURES
GENERAL FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS
Year Ended June 30, 2010

(Continued)
Budgeted Amounts Variance With
Original Final Actual Final Budget
Student personnel services:
Salaries and wages $ 1,536,274 $ 1,536,274 $ 1,519,039 $ 17,235
Contracted services 686,018 700,848 669,516 31,332
Supplies and materials 26,925 19,750 9,842 9,908
Other charges 25,433 23,838 12,273 11,565
Equipment - 20,400 20,250 150
Transfers 7,137 7,137 6,846 291
Total student personnel services 2,281,787 2,308,247 2,237,766 70,481
Health services
Salaries and wages 1,386,381 1,381,064 1,334,123 46,941
Contracted services 37,576 55,576 54,855 721
Supplies and materials 50,970 51,970 51,385 585
Other charges 2,267 2,267 564 1,703
Equipment 9,471 9,471 6,798 2,673
Transfers 1,937 1,937 1,731 206
Total health services 1,488,602 1,502,285 1,449,456 52,829
Student transportation:
Salaries and wages 447,396 464,896 439,116 25,780
Contracted services 7,427,887 7,378,787 7,154,419 224,368
Supplies and materials 24,682 58,282 55,023 3,259
Other charges 201,143 201,143 183,858 17,285
Equipment 135,170 135,170 134,445 725
Transfers 1,731 3,231 2,981 250
Total pupil transportation 8,238,009 8,241,509 7,969,842 271,667
Operation of plant:
Salaries and wages 5,418,747 5,314,010 5,144,699 169,311
Contracted services 606,426 738,946 608,107 130,839
Supplies and materials 658,978 664,195 652,421 11,774
Other charges 4,579,354 4,549,353 4,225,875 323,478
Equipment 64,490 61,490 55,653 5,837
Transfers 5,969 5,969 5,967 2
Total operation of plant 11,333,964 11,333,963 10,692,722 641,241
Maintenance of plant:
Salaries and wages 1,336,152 1,336,152 1,299,369 36,783
Contracted services 594,262 599,262 568,428 30,834
Supplies and materials 1,023,596 1,018,596 823,362 195,234
Other charges 14,209 14,209 11,204 3,005
Equipment 69,751 69,751 54,651 15,100
Total maintenance of plant $ 3,037,970 $ 3,037,970 $ 2,757,014 $ 280,956
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF APPROPRIATIONS AND EXPENDITURES
GENERAL FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS
Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Continued)

Budgeted Amounts

Variance With

Original Final Actual Final Budget
Fixed charges:
Insurance and employee benefits $ 28,643,620 $ 28,669,441 $ 27,528,447 $ 1,140,994
Community services:
Salaries and wages 29,514 30,014 29,716 298
Contracted services 69,010 69,010 61,497 7,513
Supplies and materials 19,421 19,521 19,380 141
Other charges 49,416 48,666 43,015 5,651
Equipment 50,000 50,150 50,059 91
Total community services 217,361 217,361 203,667 13,694
Capital outlay:
Salaries and wages 532,632 536,632 486,346 50,286
Contracted services 2,192,224 2,186,224 1,695,308 490,916
Supplies and materials 364,450 364,950 239,954 124,996
Equipment 3,733,971 3,735,471 3,384,832 350,639
Total capital outlay 6,823,277 6,823,277 5,806,440 1,016,837
Food service:
Transfers 750,000 750,000 750,000 -
TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS
AND EXPENDITURES $ 165,806,553 $ 166,306,553 $ 160,677,068 $ 5,629,485
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES - BUDGET TO ACTUAL
FOOD SERVICES FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS
Year Ended June 30, 2010

REVENUES
Local sources
State sources
Federal sources

TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Capital outlay

TOTAL EXPENSES
OPERATING LOSS
OTHER RESOURCES
Interfund Transfer
Appropriation from June 30, 2009 net assets

TOTAL OTHER RESOURCES

EXCESS OF REVENUES AND OTHER
RESOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES

Variance With

Budget Actual Final Budget
$ 1,865,561 $ 1,701,204 $ (164,357)
184,908 201,889 16,981
3,986,029 4,154,334 168,305
6,036,498 6,057,427 20,929
2,304,309 2,247,159 57,150
41,950 60,982 (19,032)
3,379,356 3,314,652 64,704
1,058,155 1,017,008 41,147
46,728 82,011 (35,283)
6,830,498 6,721,812 108,686
(794,000) (664,385) 129,615
750,000 750,000 -
44,000 - (44,000)
794,000 750,000 (44,000)
$ - $ 85,615 $ 85,615
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

PENSION AND RETIREE HEALTH PLAN TRUST FUNDS

ASSETS
Cash
Accounts receivable
Trust investments

Total assets
NET ASSETS
Held in Trust for:
Retirement and

other benefits

Total net assets

June 30, 2010

Total Pension

401(A) and Retiree
Matching Employees Retiree Health Health Plan
Fund Pension Plan Trust Trust Funds
$ 147,187 $ 396,620 $ 1,462,351 § 2,006,158
423,015 - - 423,015
1,995,275 14,544,930 3,789,023 20,329,228
2,565,477 14,941,550 5,251,374 22,758,401
2,565,477 14,941,550 5,251,374 22,758,401
$ 2,565,477 $ 14,941,550 $ 5,251,374 § 22,758,401
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

PENSION AND RETIREE HEALTH PLAN TRUST FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2010

ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Employer contributions
Plan member contributions
Total contributions

Investment earnings:
Interest and dividends
Increase in fair value

of investments
Total investment earnings
Total additions
DEDUCTIONS
Pension benefit payments
Administrative expenses
Total deductions
Change in net assets

Net assets beginning of year

Net assets end of year

Total Pension

401(A) and Retiree
Matching Employees Retiree Health Health Plan
Fund Pension Plan Trust Trust Funds

$ 423,015 % 638,525 $ 1,584,655 $ 2,646,195

- 357,791 - 357,791

423,015 996,316 1,584,655 3,003,986

42,665 476,860 94,228 613,753

131,011 1,136,246 378,190 1,645,447

173,676 1,613,106 472,418 2,259,200

596,691 2,609,422 2,057,073 5,263,186

55,501 833,409 - 888,910

- 122,026 14,513 136,539

55,501 955,435 14,513 1,025,449

541,190 1,653,987 2,042,560 4,237,737

2,024,287 13,287,563 3,208,814 18,520,664

$ 2,565,477 $ 14,941,550 $ 5,251,374 $ 22,758,401
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES - AGENCY FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2010

ASSETS
Cash
Accounts receivable
Due from other funds

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Due to school

activity groups

Total liabilities

Balance Balance
July 1, 2009 Additions Deductions June 30, 2010

$ 60,369 $ 2,520,401 2,541,515 39,255
6,592 582 6,592 582

426,061 - 12,682 413,379

493,022 2,520,983 2,560,789 453,216

6,390 5,493 6,390 5,493

486,632 2,515,490 2,554,399 447,723

$ 493,022 § 2,520,983 $ 2,560,789 453,216
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STATISTICAL SECTION

This section of the Board's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and
required supplementary information says about the Board's overall financial health.

CONTENTS Page
Financial Trends

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how
the Board's financial performance and well-being have changed over time.

Net Assets by Component 74
Changes in Net Assets 75 -76
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 77
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 78 - 79
Approved Operating Budgets 80 - 81

Debt Capacity
This schedule presents information to help the reader assess the affordability of
the Board's current level of outstanding debt. The Board has no authority to issue
bond debt. Wicomico County, Maryland may incur bond debt on behalf of the
Board to fund capital improvements.
Ratios of Outstanding Debt 82

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader
understand the environment within which the Board's financial activities

take place.
Enrollment by School Level 83
Enrollment by Grade 84
Full Time Equivalent Positions by Function 85
Demographic and Economic Statistics 86
Operating Information 87

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the Board's financial report relates to the
services it provides and activities it performs.
Facilities Inventory 88
Insurance Summary 89
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Schedule 6

The Board of Education of Wicomico County
Ratios of Outstanding Debt
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Governmental Business
Activities Activities
Total Percentage of
Fiscal Capital Capital Primary Personal Debt Per
Year Leases Leases Government Income (1) Capita (1)
2001 $ 244,543 - $ 244 543 0.01% 2.87
2002 342,171 - 342,171 0.01% 3.98
2003 563,951 - 563,951 0.02% 6.46
2004 1,079,326 - 1,079,326 0.04% 12.17
2005 840,433 - 840,433 0.03% 9.29
2006 1,556,334 - 1,556,334 0.05% 16.88
2007 2,264,294 - 2,264,294 0.07% 24.26
2008 3,363,600 - 3,363,600 0.10% 35.84
2009 3,031,468 - 3,031,468 N/A 32.17
2010 2,627,056 103,577 2,730,633 N/A N/A

(1) See the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics for personal income and population data.

N/A Not available
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Schedule 10

The Board of Education of Wicomico County

Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Personal Per
Income (2) Capita Civilian
(thousands Personal Labor Unemployment

Year Population (1) of dollars) Income (2) Force (3) Rate (3)
2001 85,304 2,237,463 26,229 47,247 4.8%
2002 85,995 2,320,480 26,984 48,278 4.8%
2003 87,346 2,404,704 27,531 48,362 4.8%
2004 88,665 2,615,071 29,494 50,021 4.4%
2005 90,489 2,800,695 30,951 52,096 42%
2006 92,224 2,936,136 31,837 52,885 4.0%
2007 93,343 3,103,288 33,246 52,872 4.0%
2008 93,859 3,226,603 34,377 53,179 53%
2009 94,222 N/A N/A 51,745 8.3%
2010 N/A N/A N/A 50,969 9.1%

Sources:

1) Population Estimates are from the U.S. Census Bureau and represent estimates as of July 1st of each year,

@ Bureau of Economic Analysis, U.S. Department of Commerce. (Income data for 2009 and 2010 is not

currently available.)
3 Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor.
* Civilian Labor Force and Unemployment Rate for 2010 are based on information thru July 1, 2010.

N/A - Not Available
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Schedule 11

The Board of Education of Wicomico County
Operating Information

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Per Pupil Expenditures Number of Food Services
School Bus Breakfasts
Fiscal Year Dollars State Rank * Riders Served Lunches Served
2001 $7.686 10 10,884 382,997 1,020,288
2002 $7,948 10 10,831 442,645 1,038,020
2003 $8,299 12 10,930 467,206 1,068,727
2004 $8,659 14 10,667 500,247 1,116,938
2005 38,998 15 10,622 576,652 1,189,711
2006 $9.,692 15 10,600 578,540 1,252,107
2007 $10,611 13 12,548 606,973 1,268,481
2008 $11,754 10 12,698 644,090 1,274,807
2009 N/A N/A 12,458 679,238 1,291,867
2010 N/A N/A 12,481 629,746 1,280,451

Source: Maryland State Department of Education. (FY 2010 Number of School Bus Riders provided by WCBOE
Transportation Dept.)

* Ranking of the State's 24 Schoo! Systems.
N/A Not Available
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Schedule 12
The Board of Education of Wicomico County

Facilities Inventory
Year
Constructed Acreage Sq Ft. area

SCHOOLS:
BEAVER RUN ELEMENTARY 1958 16.14 58,893
CHIPMAN ELEMENTARY 1986 6.5 40,752
DELMAR ELEMENTARY 1978 10.2 80,810
EAST SALISBURY ELEMENTARY 1942 12.1 61,889
FRUITLAND INTERMEDIATE 1937 10 43,712
FRUITLAND PRIMARY 1955 i8 56,308
GLEN AVENUE ELEMENTARY 1964 15 55,068
NORTH SALISBURY ELEMENTARY 2006 8 76,999
NORTHWESTERN ELEMENTARY 1966 104 26,800
PEMBERTON ELEMENTARY 2002 18.78 73,917
PINEHURST ELEMENTARY 1937 8.9 76,224
PRINCE STREET ELEMENTARY 2008 14.8 73,830
WEST SALISBURY ELEMENTARY 1964 15.35 25,919
WESTSIDE INTERMEDIATE 199% 10.5 54,797
WESTSIDE PRIMARY 1956 18 20,569
WILLARDS ELEMENTARY 2003 42 51,247
BENNETT MIDDLE 1966 243 129,335
PITTSVILLE ELEM./MIDDLE 1956 13.46 79,335
WICOMICO MIDDLE 1931 16 135,750
SALISBURY MIDDLE SCHOOL 1999 50 143,519
J.M. BENNETT HIGH 1963 34.46 158,955
"NEW" J.M. BENNETT BUILDING Under Construction Under Construction
MARDELA MIDDLE/HIGH 1958 39.79 87,633
PARKSIDE HIGH SCHOOL 1974 49.74 164,178
WICOMICO HIGH 1951 60 195,941
CENTRAL OFFICES:
Jersey Road various 37,629
Morris Street various 9,537
Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-MIS various 4,416
Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Annex 2-4 various 21,109
Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Central various 15,486
Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Facility various 20,019
Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Maintenance various 4,704
Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Warehouse various 8,640
Civic Avenue-County Stadium various 4,000
Schumaker Drive-Instructional Resource Center various 2,012
OTHER SCHOOLS:
Adventist Drive-Choices Facility various 29,152
Beaglin Park Drive-Tech Ed. 1997 113,546
Holly Center -Infant Toddlers Leased
Philmore Commons Building-Adult Ed Leased

various 11,321

Roberts Street-Early Learning Center
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Schedule 13

The Board of Education of Wicomico County
Insurance Summary

/1109 - 6/30/10 policy dates

Type of Coverage Name of C; Policy Number Policy Period Lbnits
Workers' Compensation MABE Workers' N/A 7101/09-6/30/10 Statutory up to $400,000
Compensation Group Self-
Insurance Fund

Bxcess Workers' Compensation Safety National SP4042244 7/01109-6/30/10 Statutory up to $400,000

Comprehensive General Liability MABE Group Insurance Pool N/A 7/01/09-6/30/10 $100,000 per occurrence
$1 million per occurrence
should sovereign immunity be
abrogated

Persona} & Advertising Injury Liability MABE Group Insurance Pool N/A 101/09-6/30/10 $100,000 per occurrence
$1 million per occurrence
should sovereign immunity be
abrogated

Employee Benefit Plan Fiduciary Liability MABE Group Insurance Pool N/A 7101/09-6/30/10 $100,000 each claim with
$250,000 annual maximom

Automobile Liability MABE Group Insurance Pool  N/A 7101/09-6/30/10 $100,000 combined single
limit  $1 million combined
single fimit for contracted
buses

Excess School Bus Liability Lexington Insurance Company 6390126 7/01/09-6/30/10 $2 million excess of $1 million
**¥contracted buses only

Personal Injury Protection - MD MABE Group Insurance Pool  N/A 7/01/09-6/30/10 $2,500 per covered person for
any one accident

Maryland Uninsvred Motorist MABE Group Insurance Poal N/A $50,000 per accident

Automobile Physical Damage MABE Group Insurance Pool N/A 7/01/09-6/30/10 actual cash value

Garage Keepers liability MABE Group Insurance Pool N/A 7/01/09-6/30/10 $100,000 per loss

Criminal Proceeding and Intentionat Conduct Defense ~ MABE Group Insurance Pool N/A 01/09-6/30/10 $50,000 per covered person

Fund $100,000 annual aggregate

Property and Boiler and Machinery MABE Group Insurance Pool N/A 7/01/09-6/30/10 $500,000 per occurrence

Excess Property and Boiler Machinery PEPIP PEP0S10 7/01/09-6/30/10 $1 billion per occurrence
excess of $500,000

Crime MABE Group Insurance Pool N/A 7701/09-6/30/10 $10,000 per occurrence

Crime - Excess Travelers Casualty 103910757 7/01/09-6/30/10 $2,500,000 per loss in excess
of $10,000

Crime - Excess Axis, Inc. MON719382012010 7/01/05-6/30/10 $5,000,000 per loss in excess
of $2,500,000

School Board Legal Liability MABE Group Insurance Pool  N/A 7/01/03-6/30/10 $250,000 per occurrence
35 million per occurrence
should sovereign immunity be
abrogated

School Board Legal Liability Reinsurance United Educators RCN20100430701 7/01/09-6/30/10 $5,000,000 per occurrence
excess of $250,000

Ci phic Student Accident AlG SRG 0009100979 7101/09-6/30/10 $5,000,000 Medical Expense
$1,000,000 Catastrophic Cash

Fiduciary Responsibility Liability Travelers 104341178 8/1/09-8/1/10 $3,000,000 per occurrence

Pollution Liability - Mardela WWTP Endurance Insurance EIL101008462-00 T109-7/11/12 $1,000,000 per accident

Pollution Liability - above ground storage tanks Zurich Insurance USC 3508566-09 7/01/09-6/30/10 $1,000,000 per claim
$2,000,000 Total for all
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